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Guangdong Lee & Man Paper Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper
BRI EA BRI SUE A

Planned annual ~ 2.95 million tons of Existing annual  1.57 million tons of
capacity: paper capacity: paper
ErEIGFER . 2958MEAR BAEFER: 1578WH

o "=5".*".' P e b

£

Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper

Dongguan Lee & Man Paper Chongqing Lee & Man Paper
REEEA ERENER

Existing annual 730,000 tons of paper Planned annual 800,000 tons of paper
capacity: capacity: and 180,000 tons of pulp
WBEFER: 738WA TEIFER :  80EMWIA K 18EMELE

Dongguan Lee & Man Paper
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

AFER

BOARD OF DIRECTORS =

Executive directors HITES

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman) TER L L (FE)

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 8ss jp (Chief Executive Officer) Bk Emgnes xvwr (HEHTE)
Mr Lee Man Bun Rk E

Mr Kunihiko Kashima BEACERE
Non-executive directors FHITES

Professor Poon Chung Kwong Gas BRA B esmes APt
Mr Yoshio Haga (Vice Chairman) FERBELEE (BIEE)
Independent non-executive directors BYIHITES

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUR LA

Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Davies 7t 4=

Mr Chau Shing Yim David JB A 5 A
COMPANY SECRETARY NEIME

Mr Cheung Kwok Keung o B 58 5% A4
REGISTERED OFFICE R =Y

Cricket Square Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681 P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111 Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands Cayman Islands
PRINCIPAL OFFICE BIRER

5th Floor, Liven House &5

61-63 King Yip Street NESE

Kwun Tong WA 61-635%
Kowloon T4 K ESE

Hong Kong

4 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2010/11 Annual Report



CORPORATE INFORMATION (CONTINUED)

RNEEH (F)

PRINCIPAL BANKERS
In Hong Kong:

Hang Seng Bank
Standard Chartered Bank
Citibank, N.A.

HSBC

DBS

In the PRC:

China Construction Bank
Bank of China
Agricultural Bank of China

AUDITOR

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited
Butterfield House

68 Fort Street

P.O. Box 705

George Town

Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR
AND TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Investor Services Limited
26/F Tesbury Centre

28 Queen’s Road East

Hong Kong

WEBSITE

http://Awww.leemanpaper.com
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Butterfield Fulcrum Group (Cayman) Limited

Buterfield House
68 Fort Street
P.O. Box 705
George Town
Grand Cayman

Cayman Islands
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
MBRE

Profit Attributable to

Revenue Owners of the Company Total Assets
— {7 P~
ON NEER ABGRF] BEERE
H@mw;\(\og HK$ million HK$ million
B&=AIT BEBT BEBT
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5-YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY
FEPBHHRE

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=t—HLFE
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
“ELEE ZZEN\E  ZETNF T TF i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT THT FHT TET

RESULTS E |
Revenue A 5,160,552 8,996,113 9,649,365 11,099,263 14,034,285
Profit before tax B R AT 2 A 1,041,005 1,499,146 337,470 2,070,198 1,984,126
Income tax expense FMEFHEY (30,894) (68,026) (37,111) (236,893) (136,147)
Profit for the year FERF 1,010,111 1,431,120 300,359 1,833,305 1,847,979
Attributable to: fEfh
Owners of the Company KAREER A 1,010,204 1,441,329 302,117 1,833,305 1,847,979
Non-controlling interests RS (93) (10,209) (1,758) = —

1,010,111 1,431,120 300,359 1,833,305 1,847,979

At 31 March
R=A=+-H
2007 2008 2009 2010 2011
“EERLE ZZTN\E ZZENF T TF b
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FET FET FHT TR

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY ¥E - BERER

Total assets BERE 9,845,200 17,014,989 18,676,559 19,710,472 BwEyL¥ L]
Total liabilities BEBE (3,274,499)  (8,980,680) (10,209,714)  (9,559,626) M ElyaLY 7))

6,570,701 8,034,309 8,466,845 10,150,846 EPIELRSE]

Equity attributable to owners AARHEAA

of the Company ity 6,570,794 8,044,611 8,466,845 10,150,846 [EVWILEIE]
Non-controlling interests SRS (93) (10,302) — = =
Total equity EmiE 6,570,701 8,034,309 8,466,845 10,150,846 [V IILEIE]
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT (CONTINUED)
EFEHmE (&)

Outlook

The China market growth is slowing and interest rates are going up,
we are prepared to meet these challenges. While managing debt at a
reasonable level, we are expanding our capacities with special focus
on what products to make and how to position them. Further, we are
maximizing the synergy with Nippon Paper, our partner and second
largest shareholder, as they provide technical know-how on the
production of coated duplex board. In total, we will be starting four
production lines (PMs15, 16, 17, and 18) with aggregate annual
capacities of 1.6 million tons. We believe that these additional

capacities will contribute to our profits when they begin production.

While pursuing growth, we will continue to control our investment
costs and we believe it is important to be prepared for any economic
uncertainties that may arise. Therefore, one of top priorities is to
manage risk and to maintain a healthy and reasonable debt level. The
Group has strong operating cash flows to meet substantially capital
expenditure incurred in capacity expansion.

Last but not least, we will continue our efforts in developing new
markets, controlling costs and optimizing the Group’'s capital

structure to deliver better returns to our shareholders.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wan Keung Patrick
Chairman

Hong Kong
15 June 2011
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EEENWR DA

RESULTS OF OPERATION

Revenue and net profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 March 2011 was HK$14,034 million and
HK$ 1,848 million, representing an increase of 26.4% and 0.8%
respectively, as compared to HK$11,099 million and HK$1,833
million, respectively, for last year. The basic earnings per share for the
year was HK40.13 cents when compared with HK40.30 cents for last

year.

Both the Group’s containerboard sales volume and net profit per ton
were comparable to last year. The increase in revenue was mainly
attributable to the increase in the Group’s average selling price of
containerboard.

DISTRIBUTION AND SELLING EXPENSES

The Group’s distribution and selling expenses was HK$209 million for
the year ended 31 March 2011 as compared to HK$230 million for
the year ended 31 March 2010. It represented about 1.5% of the
revenue for the year ended 31 March 2011 and was slightly
decreased as compared to that of 2.1% for the year ended 31 March
2010.

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately
2.4% from HK$508 million for the year ended 31 March 2010 to
HK$520 million for the year ended 31 March 2011 as a result of the

expansion in the operation of the Group during the year.

FINANCE COSTS

The Group’s finance costs was HK$207 million for the year ended 31
March 2011 as compared to HK$180 million for the year ended 31
March 2010. The increase was mainly due to the increase in average

amount of outstanding bank borrowings during the year.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

EEEFNRE D (&)

INVENTORIES, DEBTORS" AND CREDITORS'
TURNOVER

The inventory turnover of the Group’s raw materials and finished
products were 82 days and 16 days, respectively, for the year ended
31 March 2011 as compared to 82 days and 20 days, respectively, for
the year ended 31 March 2010.

The Group’s debtors’ turnover days were 49 days for the year ended
31 March 2011 as compared to 60 days for the year ended 31 March
2010. This is in line with the credit terms of 45 days to 60 days

granted by the Group to its customers.

The Group’s creditors’ turnover days were 61 days for the year ended
31 March 2011 as compared to 51 days for the year ended 31 March
2010. The creditors’ turnover days were expected to improve going
forward given the Group’s higher bargaining power in light of the
industry consolidation.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND CAPITAL
STRUCTURE

The total shareholders’ fund of the Group as at 31 March 2011 was
HK$12,300 million (31 March 2010: HK$10,151 million). As at 31
March 2011, the Group had current assets of HK$8,384 million (31
March 2010: HK$6,688 million) and current liabilities of HK$5,120
million (31 March 2010: HK$4,619 million). The current ratio was
1.64 as at 31 March 2011 as compared to 1.45 at 31 March 2010.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BEEEN®E D (&)

The Group generally finances its operations with internally generated
cash flow and credit facilities provided by its principal bankers in
Hong Kong and the PRC. As at 31 March 2011, the Group had
outstanding bank borrowings of HK$7,989 million (31 March 2010:
HK$7,073 million). These bank loans were secured by corporate
guarantees provided by certain subsidiaries of the Company. As at 31
March 2011, the Group maintained bank balances and cash of
HK$1,228 million (31 March 2010: HK$625 million). The Group’s net
debt-to-equity ratio (total borrowings net of cash and cash
equivalents over shareholders’ equity) decreased from 0.64 as at 31
March 2010 to 0.55 as at 31 March 2011.

The Group possesses sufficient cash and available banking facilities to

meet its commitments and working capital requirements.

The Group’s transactions and the monetary assets are principally
denominated in Hong Kong dollars, Renminbi or United States
dollars. The Group has not experienced any material difficulties or
effects on its operations or liquidity as a result of fluctuations in
currency exchange rates during the year ended 31 March 2011.
During the year ended 31 March 2011, the Group has used currency
structured instruments, foreign currency borrowings or other means

to hedge its foreign currency exposure.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

BEEENBE D (&)

EMPLOYEES

As at 31 March 2011, the Group had a workforce of about 7,400
people. Salaries of employees are maintained at competitive level and
are reviewed annually, with close reference to the relevant labour
market and economic situation. The Group also provides internal
training to staff and provides bonuses based upon staff performance
and profits of the Group.

The Group has not experienced any significant problems with its
employees or disruption to its operations due to labour disputes nor
has it experienced any difficulty in the recruitment and retention of
experienced staff. The Group maintains a good relationship with its

employees.

The Group has a Share Option Scheme whereby employees of the
Group are granted options to acquire shares in the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

%A—A— \Ai

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of
corporate governance. The board of directors (the “Board”) of the
Company believes that sound and reasonable corporate governance
practices are essential for the growth of the Group and for
safeguarding and maximizing shareholders’ interests. During the year
under review, the Company has complied with the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices (the “Code”) as set out in Appendix
14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”)
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

The objectives of the management structures within the Group,
headed by the Board and led by the Chairman, are to deliver
sustainable value to Shareholders.

The Chairman provides leadership to and oversees the effective
functioning of the Board. With support of the Chief Executive Officer
and the Company Secretary, the Chairman approves Board meeting
agenda, and ensures Directors have proper briefing, and timely
receive adequate and reliable information, on all Board matters.

The role of the Chairman is separate from that of the Chief Executive
Officer, and different persons hold the separate offices. Chief
Executive Officer heads the management and focuses on the day-to-

day operations of the Group.

DIRECTORS" SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set out
in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as a code of conduct regarding
directors’ securities transactions in 2004. All the members of the
Board have confirmed, following specific enquiry by the Company
that they have complied with the required standard as set out in the
Model Code throughout the year ended 31 March 2011. The Model
Code also applies to other specified senior management of the

Group.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and Role

The Board comprises:

Executive Directors:

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 88s /p

Mr Lee Man Bun

Mr Kunihiko Kashima

Non-executive Directors:
Professor Poon Chung Kwong G8s jp
Mr Yoshio Haga (Vice Chairman)

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony

Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Chau Shing Yim David

During the year, the Board comprises of four executive directors (one
of whom is the Chairman), two non-executive directors and three
independent non-executive directors. In addition, three of the
independent non-executive directors possess appropriate legal,
professional accounting qualifications and financial management
expertise.

The principal focus of the Board is on the overall strategic
development of the Group. The Board also monitors the financial
performance and the internal controls of the Group’s business
operations.

The independent non-executive directors also serve the important
function of ensuring and monitoring the basis for an effective
corporate governance framework. The Board considers that each
independent non-executive director is independent in character and
judgment and that they all meet the specific independence criteria as
required by the Listing Rules. The Company has received from each
independent non-executive director an annual confirmation or
confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The independent non-executive directors are explicitly
identified in all of the Company’s corporate communications.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

The Chairman is primarily responsible for drawing up and approving
the agenda for each board meeting in consultation with all directors.
Notice of at least 14 days have been given to all directors for all
regular board meetings and the directors can include matters for
discussion in the agenda if necessary. Agenda and accompanying
board papers in respect of regular board meetings are sent out in full
to all directors within reasonable time before the meeting. Draft
minutes of all board meetings are circulated to directors for comment

within a reasonable time prior to confirmation.

Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are
kept by duly appointed secretaries of the respective meetings and all
directors have access to board papers and related materials, and are
provided with adequate information on a timely manner, which
enable the Board to make an informed decision on matters placed

before it.

During the year, full board meetings were held and the individual
attendance of each director is set out below:

IRREAERES BEEREERL
EREBREFEER AR - HEAN
BRIONBEBERURINBEZEITRES
NHRE EFAEREZRBRANAES®
FH -ARERBERE —ExERE
BERHAEXHEEREM A ERRARN
BEXATEEF BHgRLETER
EERRANERRSEREHN 77 THER -

EFEeNESFZROZ R LR MAH
CEMEREZIMERTFE MAEEZENE
BREMEFE XM RERBERN KER
ERHERHEN FEFSANRES
TR AR A R IR Y HI T

FR CEAERESFS ZREFLRE
BRFHAT

Number of meetings

attended/Total
Name of director EEnS HEEE SRAKRH
Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick FERSLE 5/7
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond 88s Jp EX B Emgines K Fmt 717
Mr Lee Man Bun ED QT 7/7
Mr Kunihiko Kashima BEALCEXRE 3/3
Prof Poon Chung Kwong 685 J FERNA B R exmes T4+ 5/7
Mr Yoshio Haga FEEBRLAE 1/3
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony ERICRE LA 77
Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Davies %t 4 6/7
Mr Chau Shing Yim David RERK K E 717
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee was established in 2003 and its current

members include:

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Chau Shing Yim David
Mr Yoshio Haga

The Board considers that each Audit Committee member has broad
commercial experience and there is a suitable mix of expertise in
legal, business and accounting on the Audit Committee. The
composition and members of the Audit Committee complies with the
requirements under Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules. The written terms
of reference which describe the authority and duties of the Audit
Committee were adopted in 2003 to conform to the provisions of
the Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

The Audit Committee meets regularly to review the Group’s financial
reporting and other information to shareholders, the system of
internal controls, risk management and the effectiveness and
objectively of the audit process. The Audit Committee also provides
an important link between the Board and the Company’s auditors in
matters coming within the scope of its terms of reference and keeps
under review the independence and objectivity of the auditors.

The Audit Committee has reviewed with the management the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and
discussed internal controls and financial reporting matters including a

review of the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2011.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

During the year, three Audit Committee meetings were held and the
individual attendance of each member is set out below:

FR - HEWZ=ZXRERZEETEH @
IR EMHFEERFEINAT

Number of attendance

Name of member REHA HERE
Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony FTRIREE 33
Mr Peter A Davies Peter A Davies %t 4 3/3
Mr Chau Shing Yim David ERES 3/3
Mr Yoshio Haga FERELE 11
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE FMEES

The Remuneration Committee was established in 2005 and the HMEEeN T RAFEK Y - B

current members include:

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr Peter A Davies

Mr Chau Shing Yim David
Mr Kunihiko Kashima

The Remuneration Committee advises the Board on the Group’s
overall policy and structure for the remuneration of directors and
senior management. The Remuneration Committee ensures that no
director or any of his associate is involved in deciding his own
remuneration. The terms of reference of the Remuneration
Committee were adopted in 2005 to conform to the provisions of

the Code, a copy of which is posted on the Company’s website.

In determining the emolument payable to directors, the
Remuneration Committee takes into consideration factors such as
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities of the directors, employment conditions elsewhere in

the Group and the desirability of performance-based remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee meets regularly to determine the
policy for the remuneration of directors and assess performance of
executive directors and certain senior management. One
Remuneration Committee meeting was held during the year and all

members have attended in the meeting.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

ERERRE (F)

AUDITORS" REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2011, the auditor of the Company only
provided audit services to the Company.

INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board has overall responsibility for the system of internal controls
of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The Board is
committed to implementing an effective and sound internal controls
system to safeguard the interest of shareholders and the Group’s
assets. The Board has delegated to executive management the
implementation of the system of internal controls and reviewing of
all relevant financial, operational, compliance controls and risk

management function within an established framework.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

The directors are responsible for the preparation of accounts for each
financial period which gives a true and fair view of the state of affairs
of the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. In
preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2011, the
directors have selected suitable accounting policies and applied them
consistently; adopted appropriate Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and Hong Kong Accounting Standards; made adjustments
and estimates that are prudent and reasonable; and have prepared
the accounts on the going concern basis. The directors are also
responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose
with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the
Group.

INVESTOR RELATIONS AND COMMUNICATION

The Board is committed to providing clear and full information about
the Group’s performance to shareholders through the publication of
interim results and annual results in a timely manner. In addition to
dispatching circulars, notices and financial reports to shareholders,
additional information is also available to shareholders on the website

of the Company.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEERRE (&)

The annual general meeting provides a useful forum for shareholders
to raise comments and exchange views with the Board. Shareholders
are encouraged to attend annual general meetings for which the
Company gives at least 21 days’ notice. The Chairman and Directors
and external auditors are available to answer questions on the
Company’s businesses at the meeting.

Separate resolutions are proposed at the general meetings on each
substantially separate issue, including the election of individual
directors. In addition, procedures for demanding a poll are included
in the circular to shareholders dispatched together with the annual
report.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

TtEHEER

ENVIRONMENTAL PROTECTION

Over the years, the Group has been fully committed to environmental
protection. The management implemented various measures and
controls to ensure that our duties to the environment have been
fulfilled. Our production plants are built in compliance with all the
international environment management standards and we have
employed the most effective form of technology to ensure the Group
to be one of the most environmentally friendly companies in the
world. To ensure all the measures are carried out properly, the
management has set up an Environmental Protection Division
personally led by the Chief Executive Officer and a team of qualified
professionals. Periodic internal control meetings are held to review
the environmental issues in the production plants, to update any
environmental laws and regulations and to make valuable
suggestions and recommendations for improvement. In the next five
years, the Environmental Protection Division will put more effort to
ensure high environmental standards are persistently met in the key
areas of production process, waste water treatment, water and
energy consumption and emission control.

Environmentally-Friendly Production Process

The Group’s advanced production machines are designed to enable
high usage of recovered paper during the production process. One of
the Group’s long term objectives is to increase the usage of waste
paper and to decrease the usage of virgin pulp. Currently, our paper
is produced at 97% recycling rate (i.e. 97% of paper fibers are
recyclable materials) and we have one of the highest recycling rates
among all containerboard manufacturers globally. To ensure a stable
supply of recovered paper, we have several sourcing teams globally
and we have also sponsored a number of partners in China to collect
waste paper, which not only create jobs locally but also make the

surrounding area more environmentally friendly.

RERE

BEBRF SE-—EBERHNRERE A
BERZEEANERLEEZETZERD
BITHRERENEME - SERE R
FEERREEESERZE AEARA
BHB BN EREBRSERETAR
RRAMAF 2 — - RRBFFEREEHN
T EBEEXNZTRRNA AEFEH
TERETE  NEKETEEREN -
NEEHARAERESE  SEEMN
ERBEANRRER  BHAEKEE
MIRREAERRAENENGXRHTE
FhEN T REEERR ERE -
AREF  RERNMASRBREZRHREAE
RREEBRE  BKEE  BKE - BER
MAELRERSEI26E  BERA

FREZISREREFEE -

RREEBRE

SEEEMSRTRLE TEEREE
BREPERBAEBERIERREMN A&EE

REBRZ—RENEERE  BRIE
RRASE - B SEEENRKER

97%RE A R AL B (BSR4 97% S AT 1R
RBRAYHE)  SEEXARRERRA
FERTEERSBRABRLENEE
Z—  REREBEHERE  SERE
BRRBEZERBEGMLD LEDH - LEHRA
BEKAFERE AR —J7mE A A
BIERLEME - Z—HEAUEIRRE -

BIGERAR AT 2010/11 F3] 21



CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

EEEEE(A)

Water Consumption and Wastewater Treatment
Plant

Water consumption is highly dependent on the effectiveness of the
wastewater treatment processes and the amount of global change
water reclaimed in the production process. To minimize water
pollution in the production process, the Group currently employs the
world’s most effective wastewater treatment technology for paper
industries, namely a two stage anaerobic/aerobic bio-treatment and a
flotation process, which results in wastewater discharged at its
highest standards set by the national environment bureau. Our COD
("Chemical Oxygen Demand”) discharge is at or below 80mg/l, while
the national discharge standard is at 100mg/Il. More importantly, by
recycling wastewater in our production process, we reduce
significantly the water consumption to less than 10m’ per ton of
paper produced and this is approximately one-tenth of the national

average.

Energy Consumption

Another long term objective of the Group in environmental
protection is to reduce the energy consumption. The Group has
arranged to replace high energy consumption motors batch by batch
to frequency controlled type. Investment will usually be paid back in
about 3 years, and after that even more remarkable savings in energy
and cost will be achieved. In addition, we make use of the methane
generated in the anaerobic treatment of waste water and some solid
waste to help combustion in the coal-fired power plants and save
fuel consumption. Better management is another important element
in generating power more efficiently and consume less energy in the
paper making process. Currently, we operate at 0.43 ton of standard
coal per ton of paper produced and our target is to reduce to less
than 0.40 ton of standard coal per ton of paper produced in the next
five years. This level is substantially less than the national average of
1.3 ton of standard coal per ton of paper produced.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

A EEE(A)

Emission Control

Reducing energy consumption leads to less emission. All our coal-
fired power plants are installed with bag type dust filters and
desulphurization equipment and the discharge emission is always
monitored on-line, ensuring the emission levels are met with the
national regulatory requirements. For instance, the sulphur dioxide
(SO2) emission in our plants is less than 200mg/m’, well below the
national standard of 400mg/m’. Moreover, we are setting up the
most advanced Wet Scrubbing desulphurization systems in
Guangdong and Jiangsu plants which will further reduce sulphur
dioxide emission to about 100mg/m’.

HUMAN RESOURCES STRATEGY

At Lee & Man Paper, we believe that our staff are the most important
resources and their well-being, growth and performance are tied
tightly to the group’s success. To create a pleasant working and living
environment, the Group has carried out various actions to review and
improve policies and facilities continuously. Moreover, the Group also
pays high concern on its staff's career development. Through a
carefully designed internal training system and continuous effort in
identifying potential talents, the Group aims to help its staff develop
multi-skills capability, enrich knowledge, and craft a career path that
can unleash their potentials and elevate their values to satisfy their
growth needs and to better align with the Group’s strategy and
growth.

Caring Our Staff

With staff well-being as one of our core values in managing human
resources, Lee & Man is committed to providing employees with
pleasant work environment and rich personal lives. We believe that
only through building a satisfied and committed workforce we can,
as a team, achieve sustainable development and success. Our
management is open to listen to our staff's voice and suggestions.

The Group always reviews and improves catering, residence and
recreational facilities and services to provide a pleasant living
environment to the staff. The Group also devotes lots of effort in
organizing cultural events and recreational activities to enrich the
lives of its staff and their families. Being in the Lee & Man Paper big
family, we have set up a financial aid scheme helping staff and their
families directly during the rough times such as sicknesses and
accidents.

BER PR AR

B4 RE IR Al R D BE R EE IR - S B M RIE
BEMIIR B MR ARRERS MRS
B ZREMEGERERERE
BREBKEZEZFEEARATEK -
Pl BEN _—_SIHBERERT LA
K200Z2 7R AT - BERBERELEGLT
KAoo=w - EEEBEERMIH IR
BRESHEE AR ERTEE - RA%
BHE-— SR _SHERERET Y
FKAI100Z T -

ANERFK
BIERMEE BT DARREEME

E -BINRE AEERRESEDN
PRINER — 4R - REY —BEFENITHE
RERRE SEETHRS RKER
REERME - WLIN KEREEIZET
MTHEZERAR - BEBHBLRTHAL
BAlFFEI R TEHEREELNAN - &
BB ARABEIN I ENBERES
ETERZTEKE  SHMATUER
BEMK BREE EAEENER
W — AR -

BIZEET
BAEETHANBEREENEEZ — R
BYER—ERNAETIRHEEEMN T
ERRELNEENET - ZMEEREE
T EEERENBEK T EEIEBER B
MK SEEEEHNREINE
EhEZFRAREE -

SETERILANEER  EBERR
ImEERmMERY - BRETRHFENE
ERE - RETE BB XL IRERTR
FETNMERBA —ESEHXBRLEE -
ERERNERARER  E8TRHE
ZEBEBIEAXBEINE  KERINGE
MNESEERGTED EPHFMARS
R

BIGERAR AT 2010/11 F3] 23



CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

EEEEE(A)

Career Development

As Lee & Man Paper understands that the growth of its staff equals
the growth of the Group, we pay great attention in helping staff to
acquire new skills and knowledge to better fit with the Group’s
strategy. To meet with the global trend for multi-skills talent and to
encourage lifelong learning, every year the Group has organized a
series of internal training programs as well as subsidizing staff to
study further. With the Lee & Man’s performance management
system, together with the Group’s continuous effort in identifying
talents, capable staff are selected to enter our management trainee
programme global changes that aims to set new heights to their
career path. The Group has also sent students to Guangzhou’s South
China University of Technology for a two-year diploma course on
paper making technology that are fully funded by the Group and
students are placed into various positions after graduation.

AWARDS AND CERTIFICATIONS

Lee & Man Paper has always been committed to being a model
enterprise with a keen sense of social responsibility. To demonstrate
our past efforts in protecting the environment, all of our existing
plants in Hongmei, Jiangsu, Huangyong and Chongging have been
awarded the ISO14001 certification for environmental management.
In addition to the 1ISO14001 certification, our plants have also been
granted the 1ISO9001 certification for quality management. In
November 2009, we were awarded the Hong Kong-Guangdong
Cleaner Production Partner (Manufacturing). In 2010, our Hongmei
plant has been recognised by Guangdong Province as High and New
Technology Enterprises, Provincial-level Technology Centre and
Cleaner Production Enterprise.

To provide a safety working place is very crucial to us. Our Hongmei,
Jiangsu and Huangyong plants were granted with OHSAS 18001
certification for Occupational Health & Safety, demonstrating our
commitment in caring about employee safety and quality of working
environment. The certifications ensure that we have taken various
measures to improve efficiency of internal operations and
consequently reduce accidents, danger and downtime as well as
ensuring our compliance with current legal requirements.
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY (CONTINUED)

A EEE(A)

Furthermore, our plants in Hongmei, Jiangsu and Huangyong have
also been awarded IECQ QC080000 certification for Hazardous
Substance Process Management. This certification provides
confidence to our customers that our products are compliant, and

that do not contain prohibited substances.

Over the years Lee & Man Paper have made numerous donations and
we have received many awards from governmental authorities to
confirm our past contribution towards the industry and the society as

a whole.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EENSREEEBN

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, aged 68, Chairman of the Company
and founder of the Group, is in charge of senior staff recruitment,
staff management, corporate strategy, building construction and
public relations for the Group in the PRC. He has over 47 years of
experience in manufacturing and international trade. Mr Lee is the
former standing member of the Political Consultative Committee of
Guangdong Province and former chairman of Hong Kong Hainan
Commercial Association. He is now the honorary principal of the
Qionghai Jiaji Secondary School and Hainan Guoxing Secondary
School. He has also been awarded honorary citizenship of Dongguan.

Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, aged 40, CPPCC National Committee,
BBS JP, Chief Executive Officer, as well as founder of the Group, is
primarily in charge of corporate planning, investment projects and
acquisition of heavy production machines. Mr Lee has over seventeen
years of operational experience in paper manufacturing and is
experienced in professional formula of paper making and product
development. He holds a bachelor’s degree in applied science from
the University of British Columbia. Mr Lee is currently involved in a
number of public engagements. Mr Lee has been awarded honorary
citizenship of Dongguan and reputational citizenship of Changshu.
Mr Lee was the “Young Industrialist Award of Hong Kong 2002"” and
“2003 Hong Kong Ten Outstanding Young Persons Selection
Awardees”. Mr Lee is the eldest son of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick,

the Chairman of the Company.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIREHREEEEN (F)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (conTinUED)

Mr Lee Man Bun, aged 30, the member of the Political Consultative
Committee of Guangdong Province and also the Chairman of Yan
Chai Hospital Board of Directors, Executive Director and General
Manager of the Company, is responsible for assisting Chairman on
production management, sales, daily operation, research &
development, repair and maintenance of production machines and
factory staff management. Mr Lee holds a bachelor's degree of
Applied Science in Chemical Engineering from the University of
British Columbia in Canada. Mr Lee is the youngest son of Mr Lee
Wan Keung Patrick, the Chairman of the Company.

Mr Kashima Kunihiko, aged 51, an Executive Director of the
Company. He was the General Manager of corporate planning at
Nippon Paper and has over 29 years experience corporate planning,
human resources, and accounting and finance in the paper industry.
He has experience in various roles within Nippon Paper, including
corporate planning, human resources, and accounting and finance.
He has been involved in most major merger and acquisition
transactions and post merger restructuring projects within the Nippon
Paper Group, including the merger between Jujo Paper Co Ltd and
Sanyo Kokusaku Pulp Co Ltd, the merger between Jujo Paper Co Ltd
and Daishowa Paper Manufacturing Co Ltd, the acquisition of
Australian Paper by Nippon Paper and the business collaboration with
the Company.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, aged 71, GBS JP, the non-executive
director of the Company, is the Chairman of Virya Foundation Limited
(a registered non-profit charitable organization). He is the President
Emeritus of the Hong Kong Polytechnic University and has over 40
years working experience in educational sector. He was appointed
Non-official Justice of the Peace (JP) in 1989; received the OBE in
1991 and the Gold Bauhinia Star (GBS) in 2002 and the Honorary
Doctorate Degree in Humanities by The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University in 2009.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIRSREEEEN (F)

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (conminuED)

Mr Haga Yoshio, aged 61, Vice Chairman and a non-executive
Director of the Company, has over 37 years working experience in
the paper industry and was Chairman of the Japan Paper Association
between May 2008 and May 2010. He is the President and Chief
Executive Officer of Nippon Paper Group Inc, the shares of which are
listed on the Tokyo Stock Exchange, Osaka Securities Exchange and
Nagoya Stock Exchange. He has spent the majority of his time in
production management, with experience in research and
development, as well as corporate planning. As the head of the
corporate planning division of Nippon Paper, he led the “Group
Vision 2015"” initiative in cost reduction activities and large scale
capital expenditure projects and has focused on the business
expansion of the Nippon Paper Group both domestically and
overseas. The overseas expansion projects he has led for Nippon
Paper include the alliance with SCG Paper Public Company Limited,
the alliance with Yuen Foong Yu Paper Mfg, Co Ltd the acquisition of
Australian Paper and the business collaboration with the Company.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony, aged 68, an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, has been a practicing lawyer in Hong Kong
since 1968 and has also been admitted as a solicitor in England and
Wales. He is currently a consultant at Messrs. Hastings & Co.,

Solicitors and Notaries.

Mr Peter A Davies, aged 68, an independent non-executive Director
of the Company, is a retired lawyer. He has over 40 years of
experience in the legal field, practising both as a solicitor and a
barrister in England and Hong Kong. Over the years, he has been a
partner of Messrs. Deacons, Solicitors, and a Directorate Officer and
the head of the Insider Dealing Unit with the Department of Justice
of Hong Kong. He was appointed to be a notary public in Hong Kong
in 1974.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

EERSNEEEGEN (F)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
(CONTINUED)

Mr Chau Shing Yim David, aged 47, an independent non-executive
Director of the Company, has over 22 years’ experience in corporate
finance, working on projects ranging from initial public offerings and
restructuring of PRC enterprises for cross-border and domestic
takeovers. He was formerly a partner of one of the big four
accounting firms in Hong Kong, heading the Merger and Acquisition
and Corporate Advisory Services. He is a member of the Hong Kong
Securities Institute, the Institute of Chartered Accountants of England
and Wales (“ICAEW") with the Corporate Finance Qualification
granted by ICAEW, and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA"). Mr Chau was an ex-committee member of
the Disciplinary Panel of HKICPA. He is an executive director of Up
Energy Development Group Limited and an independent non-
executive director of Shandong Molong Petroleum Machinery
Company Limited, Varitronix International Limited, Evergrande Real
Estate Group Limited and Man Wah Holdings Limited, all are listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr Chan Kai Leung Clement, aged 47, is the Group Vice President,
responsible for the management of the Group’s investor relations and
investment banking functions. Mr Chan holds a master's degree in
Business Administration from the University of Sheffield in the United
Kingdom. He is a member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants
in England and Wales and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants. Mr Chan has over 22 years of experience in auditing &
accounting, investment banking and corporate financial

management. He joined the Group in February 2010.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESIRSREEEEN (F)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conTinUED)

Mr Cheung Kwok Keung, aged 44, is the Chief Financial Officer of
the Group responsible for the internal supervision and management
of the Group’s financial matters and company secretary of the
Company. Mr Cheung is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and has over 22
years of experience in the field of auditing, accounting and financial
management. Mr Cheung holds a professional diploma in
accountancy from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University. Mr Cheung
is also an independent non-executive director of Sheng Yuan
Holdings Limited and China Aoyuan Property Group Limited, both are
listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited. He joined the Group in August 2002.

Mr Yan Jean Goo, aged 45, the general manager of Guangxi Lee &
Man, is responsible for the business development of the Group. Mr
Yan holds a bachelor’s degree in economics from the University of
Xiamen and has over 23 years of experience in production and
operation management. He joined the Group in November 2006.

Mr Chan Kong Sang, aged 51, is the Manager of power stations of
the Group, responsible for the set up and operation of various power
plants. Mr Chan holds a bachelor’s degree of science in engineering
from the University of Hong Kong. Mr Chan has over 28 years of
operational experience in managing production and engineering
aspects of manufacturing businesses and joined the Group in January
2001.

Mr Hue Kwok Chiu Boris, aged 45, is the senior Purchasing
Manager of the Group, responsible for procurement of coal and
production raw materials. Mr Hue holds an honor bachelor’s degree
of Management from the University of Hong Kong. He has over 20
years of experience in management of multinational companies in
PRC. Mr Hue joined the Group in March 2007.
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PROFILE OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

ESRaREEERN (FE)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (conTinUED)

Mr Tse Pak Kong, aged 48, is the senior manager of the Group,
responsible for the foreign procurement of recovered paper
businesses. Mr Tse holds a bachelor’s degree of science in electrical
engineering from the University of Hong Kong. He has over 24 years
of experience in the management of both multinational and local

companies in China. Mr Tse joined the Group in December 2005.

Mr Chu Kwok Lung, aged 49, is the executive manager of
Dongguan Lee & Man Paper, responsible for the daily operation and
management of Dongguan Lee & Man. He has over 26 years of
manufacturing experience. He joined the Group in June 2006.

Ms Lam Sau Ping, aged 42, is the sales manager of the Group
responsible for sales and marketing. Ms Lam holds a higher certificate
in marketing and sales management from the Hong Kong Polytechnic
University. Ms Lam has over 21 years of work experience in sales and
marketing. She joined the Group in March 1996.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT
R

g

The directors present their annual report and the audited financial

statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 37 to the

consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2011 are set
out in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page
44.

The directors of the Company recommend the payment of a final
dividend of HK8 cents per share for the year ended 31 March 2011
to the shareholders whose name appear on the register of members
on 28 July 2011, amounting to approximately HK$375 million,
subject to the approval of the shareholders at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company are set out
in note 28 to the consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired property, plant and equipment
at a cost of approximately HK$1,644 million for the purpose of
expanding its business. Details of this and other movements in the
property, plant and equipment of the Group during the year are set
out in note 14 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

DIRECTORS AND DIRECTORS' SERVICE
CONTRACTS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick (Chairman)
Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond, 88s Jjp (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr Lee Man Bun
Mr Kunihiko Kashima
(appointed on 30 June 2010)

Non-executive director

Professor Poon Chung Kwong, GBS Jp
Mr Yoshio Haga (Vice Chairman)
(appointed on 30 June 2010)

Independent non-executive directors

Mr Wong Kai Tung Tony
Mr Peter A Davies
Mr Chau Shing Yim David

In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr Lee
Man Chun Raymond, Mr Lee Man Bun and Professor Poon Chung
Kwong retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick and Mr Lee Man Chun Raymond have
each entered into a service agreement with the Company for an
initial period of three years commencing 1 September 2010, which
will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by either party by
three months’ prior written notice.

Mr Lee Man Bun has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for an initial period of three years commencing 16 August
2010, which will continue thereafter unless and until terminated by
either party by three months’ prior written notice.

Mr Kunihiko Kashima was appointed for an initial period of three
years commencing on 30 June 2010, which will continue thereafter
unless and until terminated by either party by three months’ prior
written notice.

The term of office of the non-executive directors and each of the
independent non-executive directors is the period up to his retirement
as required by the Company’s Articles of Association.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

DIRECTORS” AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES" INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT
SECURITIES

As at 31 March 2011, the relevant interests or short positions of the
directors or chief executives of the Company in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company or its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures
Ordinance ("SFO") which are required to be notified to the Company
and The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "Stock
Exchange"”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests or short positions which they have taken or
deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO) or were
required pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein or were required, pursuant to the relevant
provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) relating to securities transactions
by directors to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
were as follows:

Long positions

(@) Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company

EERETETHRAERRAEAHE

BRSZTHEENEZRAR

MR-ZZ——F=ZA=+—H A2FALX
EFHTETHAEBERR A H AR
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E+ABEIRESHHFRTEMNE AR A
LERBBEXIFEBER AR ([BRZA])
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352 R /B RE BRI BZ IR FIT 36 0 B R i O A 48
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Number of Percentage of

ordinary shares the issued

subject to share capital

Number of options granted of the Company

Name of director Capacity ordinary shares REWEBRER GHEXAATESBRT

BEEnR 545 ZEREE PRNEERHE BRABDEH

Lee Wan Keung Patrick Held by controlled 2,494,148,000 — 53.18%

ESCL: corporation (Note)
B EHEERE (i)

Lee Man Chun Raymond Beneficial owner — 40,000,000 0.85%
Pk ERAA

Lee Man Bun Beneficial owner — 26,666,668 0.57%
W, EaEEA

Poon Chung Kwong Beneficial owner 586,000 — 0.01%
BRI EaEaA

Wong Kai Tung Tony Beneficial owner 600,000 — 0.01%
FRUGR BEaEEA

note: These shares were held by Gold Best Holdings Ltd (“Gold Best”). Gold M5k - 2B 1 FA Gold Best Holdings Ltd ([ Gold

Best is a controlled corporation of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick under the
SFO. The entire issued share capital of Gold Best is owned by Mr Lee Wan
Keung Patrick, who is also a director of Gold Best.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2010/11 Annual Report
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEEHRE(E)

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES' INTERESTS EENRTETHRAEREKRAIGE
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN EQUITY OR DEBT BESTHEENERRRE (£)
SECURITIES (conTINUED)

Long positions (Continued) He(E)

(b) Ordinary shares of the associated corporation of the (b) 2 FEEEE/EBR

Company

Percentage of
the issued share
capital of
Name of Number of the associated
associated ordinary corporation
Name of director Capacity corporation shares {EHEEEED
BEENA 56 HEEEEE ZERHE BOTOKREFESW
Lee Wan Keung Patrick Beneficial owner Gold Best (Note) 100 100%

FiER BmEEA (BfE)
note: Gold Best is an associated corporation of Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick M5t - RIBEF S REIE KA - Gold Best /5% i&E
under the SFO. The entire issued share capital of Gold Best is owned by 3% St HE R ABESE VA B © Gold BestH) 2 &2
Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, who is also a director of Gold Best. BITRABTERLERE - TEARL

4 B Gold BestZ E = ©

Save as disclosed above and other than certain nominee shares in B EX IR BEEINRBK TETESER
subsidiaries held by certain directors in trust for the Company, none & ANRGBFREEAR AR AFFE TH
of the directors or chief executives or their associates had any BRFKME TERMHIIN RZT——F =
interests or short positions in any shares, underlying sharesor H=+—H &% FETHAER
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations as ¥ F BB 8 A T BB L A A Bl s H AE 1
at 31 March 2011. HEOEB RN - HEAKROKESD
BEREMERIAR -
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

SHARE OPTIONS B

Particulars of the Company’s share option scheme are set out in note N2 Bl BT B B X B B WX
29 to the consolidated financial statements. MIEE29 ©

The following table discloses movements in the Company's share T 7] R 1& # & A A 5 R F N B IR #E &1 &

option scheme during the year: T2 &

Number of shares of the Company to be
issued upon exercise of the share options

REREBTERKT
BITNADRRDEE
Exercise price
per share Outstanding at Outstanding at
R 1 April 2010 Exercised 31 March 2011
T#EE  Exercisable R-ZE—-FfF during R-ZB-——F
Name Date of grant HK$ period B—H theyear =A=1—H
L RHBH BT TR i RAT FRETE i R AT
Category I: Directors
E-R ES
Lee Man Chun =343 3.10.2006 3.775 1.1.2008 to 1,968,000 (1,968,000) —
Raymond 31.12.2010
5.9.2008 1.872 1.9.2009 to 120,000,000 (80,000,000) 40,000,000
31.8.2013
Lee Man Bun 2 30OH, 3.10.2006 3.775 1.1.2008 to 1,200,000 (1,200,000) —
31.12.2010
5.9.2008 1.872 1.9.2009 to 80,000,000 (53,333,332) 26,666,668
31.8.2013
Poon Chung Kwong &R ¥ 3.10.2006 3.775 1.1.2008 to 640,000 (640,000) —
31.12.2010
Category II: Other employees
B8 HiES
Employees E8 3.10.2006 3.775 1.1.2008 to 1,680,000 (1,680,000) —
31.12.2010
Total 1 205,488,000 (138,821,332) 66,666,668

The closing prices of the Company’s shares on the dates of grantof 3 R Z-ZZEZERNF+A=ZB A _ZTZTN\FN
October 2006 and 5 September 2008 were HK$3.77 and HK$1.67 AR BRHBHERAQXARMD 2 K|
respectively. BRI R377B T RI167ETT
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the heading “Share Options” above, at no
time during the year was the Company, its holding company or any
of its fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries a party to any arrangements
to enable the directors of the Company to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in, or debts securities (including
debentures) of, the Company or any other body corporate and none
of the directors, their spouses or children under the age of 18, had
any rights to subscribe for securities of the Company, or had
exercised any such rights.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 March 2011, the following persons (other than directors or
chief executives of the Company) had interests or short positions in
the ordinary shares of the Company which fall to be disclosed to the
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the
SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be kept by
the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each of the Company

ordinary shares held

EEREROIEZHED

BREXTERE] —SHAREEIN AR
A HERAF - BREARRXNERQR
Ko P 8 2~ B A 4R P A o] B ) B 4 BT SZ A
Mz BEARREFAEBEEAL
) AR AT E A A B 88 O B (D 1B 75
Er(BREEE) MEDRNE  MEE
ERBRENRBRISEATH F LI E
ARBARBESFNEER - TFET
B ZEER -
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RZE——F=ZA=+—H" T AL
(ARREERTBTHRAERINER
RAMEBRRTEEREFES KRB E K
DI+ REE2REINHNRERARA
RAEBENEDZIRE  AREFHF LK
HIEGIIE336 MR ED CER AR A
B2EFENECMANBRIRR

3y
A RS IR EE0.0257% T A E B
Percentage of the

issued share capital
of the Company

Number of issued

Name of shareholder Capacity BFREE®RT EERTE BT
RERH A g6 ZERHE REBD K
Gold Best Beneficial owner 2,494,148,000 53.18%
EnEEA
Lee Wong Wai Kuen Held by spouse (Note i) 2,494,148,000 53.18%
FEER mECERA (M)
Nippon Paper Group Inc Held by controlled corporation 546,153,559 11.65%
B AR (Note i)
B EHDEE A (i)
Dyna Wave Holding Asia Beneficial owner (Note ii) 546,153,559 11.65%

BB A (MEE)

note:

(i) Under the SFO, Lee Wong Wai Kuen is deemed to be interested in these
2,494,148,000 ordinary shares as she is the spouse of Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a
beneficial owner of the Gold Best.

(ii) Dyna Wave Holding Asia is wholly owned by Nippon Paper Group Inc.

B 5

0} BEZBLHRAERS  ARTERBRTER
(Gold BestE#=#EA A) BB - MR RS
#%2,494,148,000 % @A Mg =5 o

(ii) Dyna Wave Holding Asia & H REUR 2 E A -
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EZERE (&)

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS (conminuep)
Long positions (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2011, the Company had not
been notified by any persons (other than directors or chief executives
of the Company) who had interests or short positions in the shares or
underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of the Part
XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register required to be
kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO.

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, an annual confirmation of his independence
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing Securities
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive directors are
independent.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to Rule 14A.38 of the Listing Rules, the board of directors
engaged the auditor of the Company to report on the Group's
continuing connected transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing their findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions in
accordance with Listing Rules. The independent non-executive
directors have reviewed the continuing connected transactions and
the unqualified letter from the auditor and have confirmed that the
continuing connected transactions entered into by the Group were in
the ordinary and usual course of its business, on normal commercial
terms, or on terms no less favorable than terms available to or from
independent third parties, and in accordance with the terms of the
agreement governing such transactions that are fair and reasonable
and in the interests of the shareholders of the Company as a whole.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

EEEHRE(E)

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (conTiNUED)

Details of the discloseable connected transactions for the year are set
out in note 35 to the consolidated financial statements. In the
opinion of the independent non-executive directors, these
transactions entered into by the Group were:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;

(i)  either (a) on normal commercial terms; or (b) where there is no
available comparison, on terms that were fair and reasonable
so far as the shareholders of the Company are concerned;

(i)  either (a) in accordance with the terms of the agreements; or (b)
where there are no such agreements, on terms no less
favourable than those available to or from independent third

parties; and

(iv) within the relevant cap amounts as agreed by the Stock
Exchange.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which are
required to be disclosed as connected transactions in accordance
with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS” INTEREST IN CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed under the heading “Connected Transactions”, there
were no contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding
company or any of its fellow subsidiaries and subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director of the Company had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisting at the end of the year or at

any time during the year.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

$é$ﬁ¢ (IIE

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s
five largest suppliers were approximately 64% of the Group’s total
purchases and the purchases attributable to the Group’s largest

supplier were approximately 27% of the Group’s total purchases.

The aggregate sales during the year attributable to the Group’s five
largest customers were less than 10% of the Group’s total sales.

None of the directors, their associates or any shareholder which, to
the knowledge of the directors, owned more than 5% of the
Company’s issued share capital had any interest in the share capital

of any of the five largest suppliers of the Group.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

According to the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the directors, the Company
has maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended
31 March 2011.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
laws, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing

shareholders.
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DIRECTORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

E=ERE (&)

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
experience and prevailing market rate. Other employee benefits
including insurance and medical cover and share options are also
provided.

The determination of emoluments of the directors of the Company

has taken into consideration their expertise and job specifications.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to HK$3,500,000.

AUDITOR

A resolution will be submitted to the annual general meeting of the
Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as auditor
of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lee Wan Keung Patrick
Chairman

Hong Kong

15 June 2011
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

8 M % D

Deloitte.
=2

TO THE MEMBERS OF LEE & MAN PAPER
MANUFACTURING LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 44 to 148,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at
31 March 2011, and the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and
consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and a
summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory
information.

DIRECTORS" RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)

BB RS ()

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITY

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audit and to report our opinion
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report. We conducted our audit in accordance with
Hong Kong Standards on Auditing issued by the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Those standards require that we
comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to
obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s
judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also
includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the
directors, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the
consolidated financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

OPINION

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Group as at 31 March 2011 and
of the Group’s profit and cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards and have
been properly prepared in accordance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

DELOITTE TOUCHE TOHMATSU
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

15 June 2011
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SAe T HWE

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZ-—ZF——F=H=+—HIFFE&E

2011 2010
—E——F —E-TF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
MIsE F#ET FET
Revenue A 5 14,034,285 11,099,263
Cost of sales SHE RN (11,452,435) (8,312,782)
Gross profit EF 2,581,850 2,786,481
Other income E A 6 335,883 228,045
Net gain (loss) from fair value ATET B T E AT EES)
changes of derivative financial EERFINE (BE)
instruments 3,138 (27,293)
Distribution and selling expenses DHEREEER (209,429) (229,748)
Administrative expenses THER (519,991) (507,668)
Finance costs B TS AR 7 (207,325) (179,619)
Profit before tax MR EL AT &R 1,984,126 2,070,198
Income tax expense TSR H 8 (QE[ALY)] (236,893)
Profit for the year FEAEF 9 1,847,979 1,833,305
Other comprehensive income EHih 2EWE ()
(expense)

Exchange differences arising on BERIMS S EAE 2B R Z5E
translation of foreign

operations 582,506 (35,022)
Gain on hedging instruments in A TAPBReREH TSR
cash flow hedges 61,611 36,547
Cumulative loss on hedging ARRERIEmMEF»EEES
instruments reclassified to profit Z¥m T AZEEE
or loss upon early termination 37,342
Other comprehensive income REFEHMEEWE
for the year 644,117 38,867
Total comprehensive income FFEHEEENRE
for the year 2,492,096 1,872,172
Profit for the year attributable to:  JE{RAFEEF :
Owners of the company RNEHAE A 1,847,979 1,833,305
Total comprehensive income FE(h R
attributable to:
Owners of the Company YNGIE SN 2,492,096 1,872,172
HK cents HK cents
AL il
Earnings per share BRrRAF 13
— Basic N 40.13 40.30
- Diluted - B 39.25 39.44
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R MR R

At31 March 2011 —F——#=H=+—H

2011 2010
—_B——F —E-TF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
FaE THET FAT
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - B M ERE 14 13,953,105 12,401,446
Prepaid lease payments JENFEFRIE 15 471,121 373,826
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEWE  BERE
property, plant and equipment Kot i RREPRIS AT &
and land use rights 16 225,237 245,869
Interest in an associate N AR 17 — —
Tax recoverable B EE e 39,670 —
Retirement benefit assets RINEFIEE 27 914 842
14,690,047 13,021,983
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 18 2,966,738 2,203,858
Prepaid lease payments TENHEERIA 15 9,873 7,670
Trade and other receivables JEUNE 5 R EMEER 19 4,075,048 3,317,779
Amounts due from an associate JE W B 4 R R SRIE 20 = 437,753
Amounts due from related FEU B BE 3 A B RR
companies 21 22,271 58,683
Derivative financial instruments PTHEEEIA 25 809 434
Tax recoverable B EE 80,614 35,160
Restricted bank deposits BER&IRITFR 22 949 1,908
Bank balances and cash WITHESBR LR 22 1,228,116 625,244
8,384,418 6,688,489
CURRENT LIABILITIES RERE
Derivative financial instruments PTHEMIFTEA 25 46,530 120,836
Trade and other payables JENB S REMEER 23 2,315,304 1,954,831
Tax payable eI TiIR 54,393 69,811
Bank borrowings RITEE 24 2,703,696 2,473,383
5,119,923 4,618,861
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEFE 3,264,495 2,069,628
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT EEZERABEE
LIABILITIES 17,954,542 15,091,611
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION (CONTINUED)

e BARRR (E)

At31 March 2011 —F——#=H=+—H

2011 2010
—E——F —E-FF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B FET FET

NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES *kRBAE
Derivative financial instruments PTEBBIA 25 9,456 21,910
Bank borrowings RITEE 24 5,284,910 4,599,316
Deferred tax liabilities ELEHIEAE 26 360,363 319,539
5,654,729 4,940,765
12,299,813 10,150,846

CAPITAL AND RESERVES BAR EE
Share capital N 28 117,241 113,770
Reserves B 12,182,572 10,037,076
12,299,813 10,150,846

The consolidated financial statements on pages 44 to 148 were

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 15

June 2011 and are signed on its behalf by:

Lee Wan Keung Patrick Z=3E#
Chairman EJ&

FUEFIBEMBNEEMBHRROR
“TE-—FARATHRAKEFSHRER
BT YHTIEFRREE

Lee Man Chun Raymond ZEX &
Director %
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

BEERBEHR

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #if —F——#=F=+—HI-FE

Attributable to owners of the Company

KOS AR
Share
Share Share options Translation  Hedging Capital Legal Spedial Other  Retained Total
capital  premium reserve reserve reserve contribution reserve reserve reserve profits equity
BA  RGEE BRERE EXRE WHEE  E0EM tELEE RRIRE  HtHE  9EBRA EREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T T T T T T
(note i) (note il (note iii) (note v)
(k) (GED) (i) (Wi
At 1 April 2009 “EZNENA-H 13,738 4,352,945 8,107 881218 (187,861) 12,552 49 (2,999 (12,0600 3,301,156 8,466,845
Exchange differences arisingon ~ JE/NETEH B AL
translation of foreign operations ~ Z[EX £ - - - (35,022) — - — - - - (35,022)
Gain on hedging instrumentsin -~ $i# T AR SR
cash flow hedges B# - — - — 36,547 - — - - - 36,547
Cumulative loss on hedging RRERIEMEHHE
instruments reclassified to profitor  FEHAZEHIE
oss upon early termination 2B — — — — 37342 — — — — - 37342
Other comprehensive income FEEMRENE
for the year — — — (35,022) 73,889 — — — — — 38,867
Profit for the year EERF — — — — — — — — —  1,833305 1,833,305
Total comprehensive income and £ B2 ANHRER
expenses for the year - - - (35,022) 73,889 - - - — 1833306 1872172
Exercise of share options TEBRE 32 4,800 (1.418) — — — — — — 1418 4832
Cancellation of share options BT — - (1,329) - - - - - - 1329 -
Transfer to legal reserve BHEEENES - - - - - - 48 - - (48) -
Recognition of equity-settled share TR & ERRIES 5008
based payments B2 — — 57,221 — — — — — — — 57,221
Dividends paid (note 12) R (M3) — — — — — — — — — (250224 (250,224)
At 31 March 2010 ZE-FE=A=1-H 13,770 4,357,745 62,581 846,19 (113972 12,552 97 (2,999 (12,0600 4,886,936 10,150,846
Exchange differences arisingon SN EREHEFIES
translation of foreign operations ~ Z[EX %% — — — 582,506 — — — - — — 582,506
Gain on hedging instrumentsin -~ $i# T AR RSP
cash flow hedges B# — — — — 61,611 - — — — — 61,611
Other comprehensive income FEELZERA
for the year - - - 582,506 61,611 - - - - - 644,117
Profitfor the year EERA - - - - - - - - — 1847979 1847979
Total comprehensive incomeand ~ FE B2 ANERFL
expenses for the year - - - 582,506 61,611 - - - — 1847979 2,492,0%
Exercise of share options fifEhE 3471 266847 (65289) - - - - - — 65280 270318
Recognition of equity-settled share A ERE S MZUE
based payments 7 - — 32,046 - — — - - — — 32,046
Dividends paid (note 12) &E (H12) - - - - - - - - — (645493)  (645,493)
At31 March 2011 “2——E=f=1-H 17,241 4,624,592 29338 1,428,702 (52,361) 12,552 97 (2,999) (12,0600 6,154,711 12,299,813
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (CONTINUED)

GAMBREHX ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 & jf —E——#F=H=+—H I FZ

notes:

0]

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

The capital contribution arose from the disposal of subsidiaries in a prior period to
a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group’s ultimate holding company.

In accordance with the provisions of the Macao Commercial Code, the Company’s
subsidiaries in Macau are required to transfer a minimum of 25% of the annual
net profit to a legal reserve, whenever dividend is declared by the subsidiaries,
until the reserve reaches half of the capital of the subsidiaries. The reserve is not
distributable to the shareholders.

The special reserve of the Group represents the difference between the nominal
value of the aggregate share capital of the subsidiaries acquired by the Group
pursuant to the corporate reorganisation in September 2003, and the nominal
value of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisition.

In October 2008, the Group acquired the remaining 10% equity interests in
each of two subsidiaries from their non-controlling shareholders at an aggregate
consideration of US$35. The excess of the carrying amount of the net liabilities
acquired over the fair value of the consideration paid has been debited directly to
equity.

feE -
(i)

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

A2 HERDAAKEREZERAR -R2EMW
BRAREHEEEWBRFMS -

R IER P R E B A0 RS - A BIAL OB P A0 Y
BREARDERMEREDIRE - BEBETD
MNERLF 25% NEBEREEAEE B
EQNESEMNBRAAZMEAN — ¥R &
EREETEAIRTIER -

AEENFHFREERBAESER ST =F
NAREBEWIEPTISHOKTE R B MR AEES
HEARNF AR EEMBTHOROEERE
% o

RZZENFTA  AEEABEXMERFZ
FERBRRRBZMEMBELTSHT 10%
e @REA3 XL TBABIEEZ
FHLBEBHAMNREZATEZHBEEER
PHESET IR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n/T\ Eﬁlﬁ/)ll}g%

For the year ended 31 March 2011 & jf —FE——F = =+—HIFFE

2011 2010
b L XS N T TF
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
B 5 FE T FAT
OPERATING ACTIVITIES REXEK
Profit before tax A& F 1,984,126 2,070,198
Adjustments for: RATEERFE
Amortisation of prepaid lease T8 7 & SR I8 8 85
payments 8,485 12,862
Depreciation of property, plant and ME BEAKBZITE
equipment 544,096 484,252
Finance costs B 75 B 2N 207,325 179,619
Gain on disposal of an associate HE—BE ARzl 17 (PAWER)] —
Interest income T 2 U A (12,501) (13,217)
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEDE BEMREBES
and equipment 2 BB 1,169 5,621
Net (gain) loss from fair value changes E{TEF T AAFEEZH
of derivative financial instruments EERF (W) BE (3.138) 27,293
Retirement benefit gain R ARAE B W= (72) (640)
Share-based payments expense [ 7 2 A SRIB R 2 32,046 57,221
Operating cash flows before LEESEHIMLCER G
movements in working capital mE 2,739,805 2,823,209
Increase in inventories FEEN (674,472) (567,940)
Increase in trade and other receivables JEUWE 5 &ﬁ{@ﬁﬁ il (697,899) (1,230,896)
Decrease (increase) in amounts due FEURE B E N R B
from related companies () 36,412 (36,554)
Increase in trade and other payables FEN B 5 N E aBEFIE 278,534 732,855
Cash generated from operations REEREFNIE S 1,682,380 1,720,674
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid ENPBREMER (165,146) (37,877)
Interest paid BB (294,136) (251,328)
Purchase of tax reserve certificates BERUS (39,670) —
NET CASH FROM OPERATING REXBHABHRE
ACTIVITIES =R 1,183,428 1,431,469
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

RERERER(E)

For the year ended 31 March 2011

B —F——F=H=+—HIFE

2011 2010
b bt T T
Note HK$’'000 HK$'000
B 5 THET FAT

INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEE
Purchases of property, plant and BEVE WERR

equipment (1,536,524) (547,031)
Prepaid lease payments EMFRER (92,566) (38,974)
Proceed from assignment of amount B2 :EEf & N 7 KR

due from an associate 17 400,112 —
Deferred consideration received from 24 HEH B LD

disposal of subsidiaries 58,139 —
Repayment from (advance to) an Bih & N EE K (BR)

associate 37,641 (183,754)
Proceed from disposal of an associate 1 & B & A 7 FT15 28 17 AWEY! —
Interest received U HE 12,501 13,217
Proceeds on disposal of property, plant u“_l = %% BB K&

and equipment I8 11,864 591
Increase in restricted bank deposits B IR IR 1717 32X 38 hn 1,039 —
Deposits paid for acquisition of BEWE - BELE

property, plant and equipment and RN &

land use rights (20,454)
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries i & [ B A 7 P15 208 59,996
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETHHANEESFHE

ACTIVITIES (1,086,063) (716,409)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEEE
Repayment of bank borrowings BRIETEX (10,365,792) (7,765,531)
Dividends paid AN EE) (FLRLE)) (250,224)
Settlement of derivative financial FRERUBILE e

instruments under hedge accounting 774 T B (22,386) (43,229)
New bank borrowings raised MESRRITER 11,254,412 6,296,530
Net proceeds from issue of shares BBITE IR R TG

through exercise of share options P18 5 IB F 88 270,318 4,832
NET CASH FROM (USED IN) BMEEHAE (FHH)

FINANCING ACTIVITIES HEFE 491,059 (1,757,622)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) INCASH & RS EEY EE M

AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (R2) % 588,424 (1,042,562)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERBEEBYAA L

BROUGHT FORWARD 625,244 1,659,444
EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE Ex2gowe

CHANGES 14,448 8,362
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS RERASEEYHE

CARRIED FORWARD

represented by bank balances and RITHEB KRS

cash 1,228,116 625,244
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e MR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

For the year ended 31 March 2011 & ZE_-—F——4#F=H=+—HIFFE

GENERAL

The Company is a public limited company incorporated and
registered as an exempted company with limited liability in the
Cayman Islands under the Companies Law (2010 Revision) of
the Cayman Islands on 21 May 2003 and its shares are listed
on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its parent and ultimate holding company is Gold
Best Holdings Ltd (“Gold Best”), a private company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. Its ultimate controlling
party is Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick. The address of the
registered office and the principal place of business of the
Company is disclosed in the Corporate Information section of

the annual report.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is also the functional currency of
the Company.

The Company acts as an investment holding company. The
principal activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note
37.
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ARBlREMAERRQR R
“HFAA-+—HIRBEHESHS
AE(ZETNEFER) RHASEEK
U REBELRRERERBRAG  KH
WREBBER AR AT ([H
REF)) £ & RA RE&EER
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Best])  A—EREABRE LS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

PR Rk MY RE (4)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

52

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

New and revised Standards and Interpretations
applied in the current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following new
and revised Standards and Interpretations issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA").

HKFRS 2 (Amendments) Group Cash-settled Share-based

Payment Transactions

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) Business Combinations

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) Consolidated and Separate
Financial Statements
HKAS 32 (Amendments) Classification of Right Issues

HKAS 39 (Amendments) Eligible Hedged Items

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2009

HKFRSs (Amendments) Amendments to HKFRS 5 as part
of Improvements to HKFRSs
issued in 2008

HK(IFRIC) - Int 17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets

to Owners
HK - Int 5 Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment

on Demand Clause

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2010/11 Annual Report
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fan

L EC D)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 & ZE_-—F——4#F=H=+—HIFFE

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continuED)

New and revised Standards and Interpretations
applied in the current year (Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and
revised Standards and Interpretations in the current year has
had no material effect on the amounts reported in these
consolidated financial statements and/or disclosures set out in
these consolidated financial statements.

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) Business
Combinations

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) has been applied in the current
year prospectively to business combinations of which the
acquisition date is on or after 1 April 2010 in accordance with
the relevant transitional provisions.

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) allows a choice on a transaction-
by-transaction basis for the measurement of non-controlling
interests at the date of acquisition (previously referred to as
‘minority’ interests) either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ share of recognised identifiable net assets of the
acquiree.

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) changes the recognition and
subsequent accounting requirements for contingent
consideration. Previously contingent consideration was
recognised at the acquisition date only if payment of the
contingent consideration was probable and it could be
measured reliably; any subsequent adjustments to the
contingent consideration were always made against the cost of
the acquisition. Under the revised Standard, contingent
consideration is measured at fair value at the acquisition date;
subsequent adjustments to the consideration are recognised
against the cost of acquisition only to the extent that they arise
from new information obtained within the measurement
period (a maximum of 12 months from the acquisition date)
about the fair value at the acquisition date. All other
subsequent adjustments to contingent consideration classified
as an asset or a liability are recognised in profit or loss.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continuED)

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) Business
Combinations (Continued)

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) requires the recognition of a
settlement gain or loss when the business combination in effect
settles a pre-existing relationship between the Group and the

acquiree.

HKFRS 3 (as revised in 2008) requires acquisition-related costs
to be accounted for separately from the business combination,
generally leading to those costs being recognised as an expense
in profit or loss as incurred, whereas previously they were

accounted for as part of the cost of the acquisition.

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements

The application of HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) has resulted in
changes in the Group’s accounting policies for changes in

ownership interests in subsidiaries of the Group.

Specifically, the revised Standard has affected the Group's
accounting policies regarding changes in the Group’s
ownership interests in its subsidiaries that do not result in loss
of control. In prior years, in the absence of specific
requirements in HKFRSs, increases in interests in existing
subsidiaries were treated in the same manner as the acquisition
of subsidiaries, with goodwill or a bargain purchase gain being
recognised, when appropriate; for decreases in interests in
existing subsidiaries that did not involve a loss of control, the
difference between the consideration received and the
adjustment to the non-controlling interests was recognised in
profit or loss. Under HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008), all such
increases or decreases are dealt with in equity, with no impact

on goodwill or profit or loss.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continuED)

HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) Consolidated and
Separate Financial Statements (Continued)

When control of a subsidiary is lost as a result of a transaction,
event or other circumstance, the revised Standard requires the
Group to derecognise all assets, liabilities and non-controlling
interests at their carrying amounts and to recognise the fair
value of the consideration received. Any retained interest in the
former subsidiary is recognised at its fair value at the date
control is lost. The resulting difference is recognised as a gain

or loss in profit or loss.

These changes have been applied prospectively from 1 April

2010 in accordance with the relevant transitional provisions.

In addition, under HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008), the definition
of non-controlling interest has been changed. Specifically,
under the revised Standard, non-controlling interest is defined
as the equity in a subsidiary not attributable, directly or

indirectly, to a parent.

As no transaction during the current year in which HKFRS 3 (as
revised in 2008) is applicable and there is no change in
ownership interest in subsidiaries in which HKAS 27 (as revised
in 2008) is applicable, the application of HKFRS 3 (as revised in
2008) and HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) had no impact on the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the current
accounting period. Results of the Group in future periods may
be affected by future transactions for which HKFRS 3 (Revised),
HKAS 27 (Revised) and the consequential amendments to the
other HKFRSs are applicable.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continuED)

HKAS 28 (as revised in 2008) Investment in
Associates

The principle adopted under HKAS 27 (as revised in 2008) (see
above) that a loss of control is recognised as a disposal and re-
acquisition of any retained interest at fair value is extended by
consequential amendments to HKAS 28. Therefore, when
significant influence over an associate is lost, the investor
measures any investment retained in the former associate at
fair value, with any consequential gain or loss recognised in
profit or loss.

As no partial disposal of the Group’s interest in associate in the
current year, the application of HKAS 28 (as revised in 2008)
had no impact on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group for the current accounting period.

Amendments to HKAS 17 Leases

As part of Improvements to HKFRSs issued in 2009, HKAS 17
Leases has been amended in relation to the classification of
leasehold land. Before the amendments to HKAS 17, the Group
was required to classify leasehold land as operating leases and
to present leasehold land as prepaid lease payments in the
consolidated statement of financial position. The amendments
to HKAS 17 have removed such a requirement. The
amendments require that the classification of leasehold land
should be based on the general principles set out in HKAS 17,
that is, whether or not substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of a leased asset have been transferred
to the lessee. The Group reassessed the classification of
unexpired leasehold land as at 1 April 2010 based on
information that existed at the inception of the leases. The
application of the amendment to HKAS 17 does on affect the

classification of the Group's leasehold land.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continuED)

New and revised Standards and Interpretations
issued but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and revised
Standards and Interpretations that have been issued but are

not yet effective:

HKFRSs (Amendments) Improvements to HKFRSs issued
in 2010’
HKFRS 7 (Amendments) Disclosures — Transfers of

Financial Assets®

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments*

HKAS 12 (Amendments) Deferred Tax: Recovery of
Underlying Assets®
HKAS 24 (as revised in 2009) Related Party Disclosures®

HK(IFRIC) - Int 14 Prepayments of a Minimum
(Amendments) Funding Requirement®
HK(IFRIC) - Int 19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities

with Equity Instruments?
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010 or 1 January
2011, as appropriate.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2010.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 July 2011.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2013.
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2012.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2011.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG 2.
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continuED)

New and revised Standards and Interpretations
issued but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments (as issued in November 2009)
introduces new requirements for the classification and
measurement of financial assets. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments
(as revised in November 2010) adds requirements for financial
liabilities and for derecognition.

o Under HKFRS 9, all recognised financial assets that are
within the scope of HKAS 39 Financial Instruments:
Recognition and Measurement are subsequently
measured at either amortised cost or fair value.
Specifically, debt investments that are held within a
business model whose objective is to collect the
contractual cash flows, and that have contractual cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal outstanding are generally measured at
amortised cost at the end of subsequent accounting
periods. All other debt investments and equity
investments are measured at their fair values at the end
of subsequent accounting periods.

o In relation to financial liabilities, the significant change
relates to financial liabilities that are designated as at fair
value through profit or loss. Specifically, under HKFRS 9,
for financial liabilities that are designated as at fair value
through profit or loss, the amount of change in the fair
value of the financial liability that is attributable to
changes in the credit risk of that liability is presented in
other comprehensive income, unless the presentation of
the effects of changes in the liability’s credit risk in other
comprehensive income would create or enlarge an
accounting mismatch in profit or loss. Changes in fair
value attributable to a financial liability’s credit risk are
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss. Currently,
under HKAS 39, the entire amount of the change in the
fair value of the financial liability designated as at fair
value through profit or loss was presented in profit or
loss.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs") (continuED)

New and revised Standards and Interpretations
issued but not yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 9 is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1

January 2013, with earlier application permitted.

The directors anticipate that HKFRS 9 that will be adopted in
the Group’s consolidated financial statements for financial year
ending 31 March 2014 and that the application of the new
Standard may have a significant impact on amounts reported in

respect of the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities.

The directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
the other new or revised HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
that are measured at fair values, as explained in the accounting
policies set out below. Historical cost is generally based on the
fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conmivueD)

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company (its subsidiaries). Control is achieved where the
Company has the power to govern the financial and operating

policies of an entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed of during the
year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the effective date of acquisition

and up to the effective date of disposal, as appropriate.

Where necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into

line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated on

consolidation.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, including buildings, held for
use in the production of goods or for administrative purposes,
other than construction in progress, are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress less their residual values over their estimated useful
lives, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful lives,
residual values and depreciation method are reviewed at the
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)
Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Properties in the course of construction for production or
administrative purposes are carried at cost, less any recognised
impairment loss. Costs income professional fees and, for
qualifying assets, borrowing costs capitalised in accordance
with the Group’s accounting policy. Such properties are
classified to the appropriate category of property, plant and
equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets, commences when the assets are ready for their

intended use.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain
or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the

asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity over which the investor has significant
influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an interest in a
joint venture. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

FTESHEE#)
M BERRE (&)

AEEERTRRARZERTY
X BRAREMNEERZRERS
BIER - RARABXBRARIEE
KA(EEREE)REASENE
AHERETENM e ZFEEXT
WAIRARER &R g0 HRE
BEMNYE  BMELRIBEA - %
SEEMRTENEERAMYE
BEMAR NEEEARAHREN
ERFRIGET RITE -

ME - BERREEENHERK
FHEERZEERYITELT
MAREERRKIOHER - HE
HEE-EME BERKE R
HHEMFSHAEZEEREER
ZEBEAE  YEtARE -

BERNBAREEAREARTEM
YIMBELARINALEE L ER
ZER -BEAFERZEFRKREAR
7] REEBR2EN > MALIE
SRR S F K -

& S

BICERAR AR 2010/11 F3] 61




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

PR Rk MY RE (4)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

62

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coninuEeD)
Investments in associates (Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements using
the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method,
investments in associates are initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit
or loss and other comprehensive income of the associates.
When the Group’s share of losses of an associate equals or
exceeds its interest in that associate (which includes any long-
term interests that, in substance, form part of the Group’s net
investment in the associate), the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of that
associate.

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over the
cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

When a group entity transacts with an associate, profits and
losses resulting from the transactions with the associate are
recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements
only to the extent of interests in the associate that are not

related to the Group.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable

value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coninuEeD)
Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group
entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the

instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities
(other than financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs directly
attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or financial
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are recognised

immediately in profit or loss.

Financial assets
The Group's financial assets are classified into one of the two
categories, including loans and receivables and financial assets

at fair value through profit or loss.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset and of allocating interest
income over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts
(including all fees paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums
or discounts) through the expected life of the financial asset or,
where appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount

on initial recognition.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Effective interest method (Continued)

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
debt instruments other than those financial assets classified as
at fair value through profit or loss, of which interest income is

included in net gains or losses.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. Subsequent to initial recognition, loans and
receivables (including trade and other receivables, amounts due
from an associate, amounts due from related companies,
restricted bank deposits and bank balances and cash) are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method,
less any identified impairment losses (see accounting policy on

impairment of financial assets below).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

The Group's financial assets classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss are derivatives that are not

designated as hedging instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are measured at
fair value, with changes in fair value arising from remeasurement
recognised directly in profit or loss in the period in which they

arise.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coninuEeD)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

Financial assets, other than those at fair value through profit or
loss, are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of the
reporting period. Financial assets are impaired where there is
objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that
occurred after the initial recognition of the financial asset, the
estimated future cash flows of the financial assets have been
affected.

For loans and receivables, objective evidence of impairment
could include:

o significant financial difficulty of the issuer or counterparty;
or

o breach of contract, such as default or delinquency in
interest and principal payments; or

o it becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or financial re-organisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market for that financial
asset because of financial difficulties.

For certain categories of financial asset, such as trade
receivables, assets that are assessed not to be impaired
individually are subsequently assessed for impairment on a
collective basis. Objective evidence of impairment for a
portfolio of receivables could include the Group’s past
experience of collecting payments and observable changes in
national or local economic conditions that correlate with
default on receivables.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss where there is objective
evidence that the asset is impaired, and is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of the estimated future cash flows discounted at
the original effective interest rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coninuEeD)
Financial instruments (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the
impairment loss directly for all financial assets with the
exception of trade receivables, where the carrying amount is
reduced through the use of an allowance account. Changes in
the carrying amount of the allowance account are recognised
in profit or loss. When a trade receivable is considered
uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account.
Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are

credited to profit or loss.

For financial assets measured at amortised cost, if, in a
subsequent period, the amount of impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment losses was recognised, the
previously recognised impairment loss is reversed through profit
or loss to the extent that the carrying amount of the asset at
the date of the impairment is reversed does not exceed what
the amortised cost would have been had the impairment not

been recognised.

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by a group
entity are classified according to the substance of the
contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a

financial liability and an equity instrument.

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of the Group after deducting all of its
liabilities. The Group’s financial liabilities are classified into
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and other
financial liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coninuEeD)
Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial liability and of allocating interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments
through the expected life of the financial liability or, where

appropriate, a shorter period.

Interest expense is recognised on an effective interest basis
other than those financial liability classified as at fair value
through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss

The Group's financial liabilities classified as financial liabilities at
fair value through profit or loss are derivatives that are not
designated as hedging instruments.

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are
measured at fair value, with changes in fair value arising on
remeasurement recognised directly in profit or loss in the
period in which they arise.

Other financial liabilities

Other financial liabilities (including trade and other payables
and bank borrowings) are subsequently measured at amortised

cost, using the effective interest rate method.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the
proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)
Derivative financial instruments and hedging

Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value at the date a
derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently
remeasured to their fair value at the end of the reporting
period. The resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
immediately unless the derivative is designated and effective as
hedging instrument, in which event the timing of the
recognition in profit or loss depends on the nature of the
hedge relationship.

Hedge accounting

The Group designates certain derivatives as hedging
instruments for cash flow hedges.

At the inception of the hedging relationship the entity
documents the relationship between the hedging instrument
and hedged item, along with its risk management objectives
and its strategy for undertaking various hedge transactions.
Furthermore, at the inception of the hedge and on an ongoing
basis, the Group documents whether the hedging instrument
that is used in a hedging relationship is highly effective in
offsetting changes in fair values or cash flows of the hedged
item.

Cash flow hedge

The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives
that are designated and qualified as cash flow hedges are
recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss
relating to the ineffective portion is recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income
and accumulated in equity (hedging reserve) are reclassified to
profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item is recognised
in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminvueD)
Cash flow hedge (Continued)

Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the
hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires or is sold,
terminated, exercised, or no longer qualified for hedge
accounting. Any cumulative gain or loss accumulated in equity
at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the
forecast transaction is ultimately recognised in profit or loss.
When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the
gain or loss accumulated in equity is recognised immediately in

profit or loss as a reclassification adjustment.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between
the asset’s carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable and the cumulative gain or loss that
had been recognised in other comprehensive income is

recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and

payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)
Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine whether
there is any indication that those assets have suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable
amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the
extent of the impairment loss, if any. If the recoverable amount
of an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its recoverable
amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense

immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of its
recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the
asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is

recognised as income immediately.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable for
goods sold in the normal course of business, net of discounts
and sales related taxes.

Revenue from sale of goods is recognised when the goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised when it is
probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and
the amount of revenue can be measured reliably. Interest
income from a financial asset is accrued on a time basis, by
reference to the principal outstanding and at the effective
interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly discounts
the estimated future cash receipts through the expected life of
the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying amount on initial
recognition.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminvueD)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Income from supply of steam and electricity is recognised upon

the provision of the steam and electricity.

Income from the rendering of wharf cargo handling services is
recognised in the financial period in which the services are

rendered.

Leasing

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as

operating leases.

The Group as lessee

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a
straight-line basis over the lease term, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are

incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into
operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a liability.
The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction
of rental expense on a straight-line basis, except where another
systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in
which economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminvueD)
Leasing (Continued)

Leasehold land and buildings

When a lease includes both land and building elements, the
Group assesses the classification of each element as a finance
or an operating lease separately based on the assessment as to
whether substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of each element have been transferred to the Group
unless it is clear that both elements are operating leases, in
which case the entire lease is classified as an operating lease.
Specifically, the minimum lease payments (including any lump-
sum upfront payments) are allocated between the land and the
building elements in proportion to the relative fair values of the
leasehold interests in the land element and building element of

the lease at the inception of the lease.

To the extent the allocation of the lease payments can be made
reliably, interest in leasehold land that is accounted for as an
operating lease is presented as “prepaid lease payments” in
the consolidated statement of financial position and is
amortised over the lease term on a straight-line basis. When
the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between the
land and building elements, the entire lease is generally
classified as a finance lease and accounted for as property,

plant and equipment.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conminvueD)
Leasing (Continued)

Prepaid lease payments

Prepaid lease payments represent the up-front operating lease
payments to lease medium-term leasehold land interests in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC"”) and Vietnam and are
charged to the profit or loss in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the term of
the relevant leases.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions

attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Specifically, government grants whose primary
condition is that the Group should purchase, construct or
otherwise acquire non-current assets are recognised as a
deduction from the carrying amount of the relevant asset in
the consolidated statement of financial position and transferred
to profit or loss over the useful lives of the related assets.
Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coninuEeD)
Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
state-managed retirement benefit scheme and the Mandatory
Provident Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) are charged as an
expense when the employees have rendered the services

entitling them to the contributions.

For defined benefit retirement benefit plans, the cost of
providing benefits is determined using the projected unit credit
method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at the end
of the reporting period. Actuarial gains and losses which
exceed 10 per cent of the greater of the present value of the
Group's defined benefit obligations and the fair value of plan
assets at the end of the previous reporting period are amortised
over the expected average remaining working lives of the
participating employees. Past service cost is recognised
immediately to the extent that the benefits are already vested,
and otherwise is amortised on a straight-line basis over the

average period until the amended benefits become vested.

The retirement benefit assets recognised in the consolidated
statement of financial position represent the fair value of plan
assets as adjusted for unrecognised actuarial gains and losses,
and as reduced by the present value of the defined benefit
obligation. Any asset resulting from this calculation is limited to
unrecognised actuarial losses and past service cost, plus the
present value of available refunds and reductions in future

contributions to the plan.

Equity-settled share based payment
transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference to
the fair value of share options granted at the grant date is
expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a
corresponding increase in equity (share options reserve).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (conmivueD)

Equity-settled share based payment
transactions (Continued)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its
estimates of the number of options that are expected to
ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the estimates
during the vesting period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss,

with a corresponding adjustment to share options reserve.

At the time when the share options are exercised, the amount
previously recognised in share options reserve will be
transferred to share premium. When the share options are
forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised at the
expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share options
reserve will be transferred to retained profits.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially ready
for their intended use or sale. Investment income earned on
the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their
expenditure on qualifying assets is deducted from the
borrowing costs eligible for capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coninuEeD)
Taxation (Continued)

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit as reported in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income because it excludes items
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and it further excludes items that are never taxable or
deductible. The Group’s liability for current tax is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted

by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated
financial statements and the corresponding tax bases used in
the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are
generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all deductible
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that
taxable profits will be available against which those deductible
temporary differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities
are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition of other assets and liabilities in a transaction

that affects neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, except where the Group is able to control the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the
temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will
be sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits
of the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse
in the foreseeable future.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (coninuEeD)
Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period. The measurement of deferred tax
liabilities and assets reflects the tax consequences that would
follow from the manner in which the Group expects, at the end
of the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities. Deferred tax is recognised in
profit or loss, except when it relates to items that are
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,
in which case the deferred tax is also recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the rates
of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions. At the
end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at that
date. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of

historical cost in a foreign currency are not retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continueD)
Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise
except for exchange differences arising on a monetary item
that forms part of the Company’s net investment in a foreign
operation, in which case, such exchange differences are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity and will be reclassified from equity to profit or loss on
disposal of the foreign operation.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end
of the reporting period, and their income and expenses are
translated at the average exchange rates for the year, unless
exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in
which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in
equity (the translation reserve).

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 3, the directors of the Company are required
to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated
assumptions are based on historical experience and other
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may
differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—H I F/F

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(CONTINUED)

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and

liabilities within the next financial year.

Fair values of derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments, such as interest rate swaps and
foreign currency forward contracts are carried in the
consolidated statement of financial position at fair values, as
disclosed in note 25. The best evidence of fair value is quoted
prices in an active market, where quoted prices are not
available for a particular financial instrument, the Group
applied the valuation techniques commonly used by market
practitioners. The use of methodologies, models and
assumptions in pricing and valuing these financial assets and
liabilities is subjective and requires varying degrees of
judgement by management, which may result in significantly

different fair values and results.

Recognition of deferred tax

As at 31 March 2011, no deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised on the distributable profits of the group companies
in the PRC as the Group plans to retain those profits in the
respective entities for their daily operations and future
developments. In case there is distribution of profits, additional
tax liabilities will arise, which will be recognised in the profit or
loss for the period in which such profits are declared or the
future development plan of the Group amends, whichever is

earlier.
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WWARDEER
Information reported to the board of directors (the “Board”) of mARREEZG([EFg] B=x
the Company, being the chief operating decision maker, for BREREE)VERERD I KAY
the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment HHMBEREAMEBRZER  EFR
performance focuses on types of goods delivered. The Group's FIRNEMZERN - AEERIEE
reportable segments under “HKFRS 8 — Operating Segments” B ELERIESHK — K&
are as follows: TZRAMEDEHINAT
(i)  Packaging paper — Kraft linerboard, test linerboard, iy BEHK-FHA BERFH
white top linerboard and high strength corrugating B BEEER RS RS
medium; and &% &
(i) Pulp (i) A
80 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2010/11 Annual Report
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDEESR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results DEBAREER
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results LT RRAImEDBEI D 2 A E
by reportable segment: WAREED -
For the year ended 31 March 2011 BE-_ZE——F5=ZA=+—HLHEF
E

Packaging Segment
paper Pulp total Eliminations Consolidated
BEL R gt it H &8
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER THET TER THERT TERT

REVENUE WA

External sales HoMEE 13,341,879 692,406 14,034,285 — 14,034,285

Inter-segment sales HEEEE — 100,589 100,589 (100,589) —

13,341,879 792,995 14,134,874 (100,589) 14,034,285

SEGMENT PROFIT 2HEF 2,056,733 82,508 2,139,241 2,139,241
Net gain from fair value RITEMBIA

changes of derivative ATEEHESE

financial instruments pa: 1 e 3,138
Unallocated corporate income &% %8 2 A AW A 54,183
Unallocated corporate expenses K948 7 A7 % i (5,111)
Finance costs B 359N (207,325)
Profit before tax W5 A2 A 1,984,126
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDHER (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment revenues and results (Continued) DEBRARESE (&)
For the year ended 31 March 2010 BE-_Z-ZF=A=+—HLHF
E
Packaging Segment
paper Pulp total  Eliminations  Consolidated
B R NEETE Eafss ey
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FEr T FEr FET
REVENUE [LON
External sales HIMEE 10,666,243 433,020 11,099,263 — 11,099,263
Inter-segment sales N EHEE — 238,077 238,077 (238,077) —
10,666,243 671,097 11,337,340 (238,077) 11,099,263
SEGMENT PROFIT TEHEF 2,239,629 30,241 2,269,870 — 2,269,870
Net loss from fair value RiTESBTA
changes of derivative ATERBESE
financial instruments 2 BER (27,293)
Unallocated corporate income A9 382 AFA 13,217
Unallocated corporate expenses &% $2 A Al % (5,977)
Finance costs FBAA (179,619)
Profit before tax B AIEF 2,070,198

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the
same as the Group's accounting policies described in note 3.
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment
without allocation of net gain (loss) from fair value changes of
derivative financial instruments, interest income, net exchange
gain (loss), gain on disposal of interest in an associate, finance
costs and other unallocated corporate income and expenses.
This is the measure reported to the board of directors for the

purpose of resource allocation and performance assessment.

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market rates.
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—H I F/F

5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDEESR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities PHMEERER
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities NTRERAIREDMWEI D 2 A%
by reportable segment: BERBGE
2011 —E2-—F
Packaging
paper Pulp Consolidated
BEE REE =a
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER FET FER
Segment assets DEEE 20,225,308 1,274,007 21,499,315
Unallocated corporate assets KD %82 AR B E 1,575,150

Consolidated total assets HEARBEEE 23,074,465

Segment liabilities HEEE 1,795,889 29,351 1,825,240

Unallocated corporate liabilities ko327 AT & E 8,949,412

Consolidated total liabilities SEAEaRE 10,774,652
2010 —E-ZF

Packaging

paper Pulp  Consolidated

B N A

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

T FHET T

Segment assets DEEE 17,492,035 955,949 18,447,984

Unallocated corporate assets AKOFEZATIEE 1,262,488

Consolidated total assets REBEE 19,710,472

Segment liabilities NEBE 1,053,603 40,688 1,094,291

Unallocated corporate liabilities k3 ¥8 2 A & & & 8,465,335

Consolidated total liabilities LAEEARE 9,559,626
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WWARDEER (#)
(CONTINUED)
Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) ITHMEEREE (E)
For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and REZDHBERBENRDHBE DB E
allocating resources among segments, all assets are allocated R ABEEEADETAIRSEDE
to reportable segments other than retirement benefit assets, GRARBMEE  BUHE QAR
amounts due from an associate, amounts due from related H - JEWEBEARRIE  STEH
companies, derivative financial instruments, tax recoverable, BIA - AT EIRIE - BREIRT
restricted bank deposits, bank balances and cash and other TR RITERRRES AR B AR
assets used jointly by reportable segments, and all liabilities are ENEARMAZHMEERR)
allocated to reportable segments other than derivative financial UEMBERBESDE T AIREDH
instruments, tax payable, bank borrowings and deferred tax (PTEFBIA  BRIE - RITE
liabilities and other liabilities for which reportable segments are B EERBRERAIRE D HE
jointly liable. [l FE 1 2 E Ath B EBRAN) ©
Revenue from major products RETEEMOBA
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue from its RTRAEERBEEERMNHEA
major products: DT
2011 2010
TE - —F ikl
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
Packaging paper (including linerboard 65 4% (63 3E 41 4K J2
and corrugating medium) FAS4) 13,341,879 10,666,243
Pulp N 692,406 433,020
14,034,285 11,099,263
84 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2010/11 Annual Report
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5. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5. WARDEESR (&)
(CONTINUED)
Geographical information #h 35 & K
Over 95% (2010: 95%) of the Group’s revenue from external REEIIRERFE 2 WABEBEIS% (=
customers are in the PRC. T—FF 5% REFH -
The following is an analysis of the non-current assets, analysed REAEMEMESTHNERBEE
by the geographical location of the assets are detailed below: FEAT

Non-current assets

FRBEE
2011 2010
i — T TF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
PRC other than Hong Kong RE - BERI 14,238,759 12,280,005
Vietnam i) 407,776 737,984

Hong Kong &% 42,598 3,152

14,689,133 13,021,141

note: Non-current assets exclude retirement benefit assets. Mt : SERBEETRREERENEE -
Information about major customers ERXERF2EH

None of the Group's customers contributed over 10% of the AEERELFETEAEBRFG
Group's total revenue for either year. AEEBKAEIBEI0% °
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6. OTHER INCOME 6. HMWA
2011 2010
el T TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHT
Compensation income from suppliers L EEHIBR S RA1EZ
for damaged goods B8 13,084 1,620
Gain on disposal of interest in B B N B a I ER
an associate 21,731 —
Income from supply of steam and HEZRNE HBA
electricity 84,261 77,855
Income from wharf cargo handling KETFEE WA 42,049 53,968
Interest income from an associate NI MBS N 6,691 11,051
Interest income from banks SRITH BWA 5,810 2,166
Net foreign exchange gains FERG® 19,951 —
Sales of scrap materials and BERI R R AR SHE
waste paper 12,986 16,432
Value added tax and other tax refund & {& %R 7 (M 5%)
(note) 93,068 40,322
Others HAth 36,252 24,631
335,883 228,045
note: A subsidiary of the Company is involved in the production of paper M AR —RHBARLEKEERD
products which uses recovered paper that are environmental friendly. EEVEARROESR - REFEE
Pursuant to the relevant rules and regulations of the PRC governing value EEH([HER]) OF @R RE
added tax (“VAT"), the subsidiary was entitled to a VAT refund totalling o ZMNBRARERRBEE=ZE—F&
HK$70,660,000 (2010: HK$40,322,000) for the year ended 31 March =A=+—H1-FE %5 #70660,000
2011. Such VAT refund policy ceased from 1 January 2011 onward. B (ZZT—ZF : 40,322,000/ 7T ) 2

BERER - ZEERERBEER=-F
——H—A—-BEEL-
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7. FINANCE COSTS

Interest on bank borrowings wholly
repayable within five years
Interest on notes payable

REFATHREEZ
RITEEME

e B2 H 8

Total borrowing costs
Less: amounts capitalised in property,
plant and equipment

BIEERAR
BEME - BB MER
BEARLEH

7. B
2011 2010
et BN ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHIT
294,136 239,286
— 12,042
294,136 251,328

ol

(86,811) (71,709)
207,325 179,619

Borrowing costs capitalised during the year are calculated by

applying a capitalisation rate of 5% (2010: 5%) to expenditures

on qualifying assets. The capitalisation rate takes into account

interest rate swap used to hedge the cash flow exposure on

variability in cash flows.

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

FRAERNCZEERRAAERE
ERXZERNMEAN K% (ZF—F
F:5%) 5t HE - BXNMERREFF R AE
HHABERSRECRESRER
Rz M R H o

8. MEHMAX

2011 2010

S el ==~
HK$'000 HK$'000
FiB FiB

Income tax recognised in profit or loss:
Current tax

— PRC Enterprise Income Tax

— Overseas income tax
Overprovision in previous year

— PRC Enterprise Income Tax
Deferred tax (note 26)

— Charge to profit or loss

— Change in tax rate of certain

subsidiaries

REBZAERZMEH

BABIE
—FEPEMEH
—GINFT ISR

A FBERE
—HFEPEMEH

EIERLTE (M 3E26)
—REZEMNR
—EFWB AR R

Total income tax recognised in
profit or loss

RIBs R 2 BB}

75,085
47
(199)
69,850 161,960
28
(29,026) —
LEIALY 236,893
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conminuep)
PRC

The subsidiaries in the PRC are entitled to exemption from PRC
Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") for two years starting from their
respective first profit-making year, followed by a 50% relief for

the three years thereafter (“Tax Holiday").

All the Group’s PRC subsidiaries were within the tax exemption
period during both years ended 31 March 2011 and 31 March
2010, except the following:

The tax exemption period of a subsidiary, Chongging Lee &
Man Paper Manufacturing Limited expired on 31 December
2009 and its applicable preferential tax rate is 12.5% for the
period from 1 January 2010 to 31 December 2012.

The tax exemption period of a subsidiary, Guangdong Lee &
Man Paper Manufacturing Limited (“Guangdong Lee & Man")
expired on 31 December 2008 and its applicable preferential
tax rate is 12.5% for the period from 1 January 2009 to 31
December 2011. Besides, pursuant to approvals from the PRC
tax authority, Guangdong Lee & Man was exempted from EIT
for income that resulted from its purchase of plant and
equipment manufactured in the PRC for both years ended 31
March 2011 and 31 March 2010. The tax exemption is
calculated with reference to 40% of the cost of the qualifying
plant and equipment approved by the relevant tax authority.
Accordingly, Guangdong Lee & Man does not have any EIT tax
payable for year ended 31 March 2010 as a result of such tax

exemption.
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conminuep)
PRC (Continued)

The tax exemption period of a subsidiary, Jiangsu Lee & Man
Paper Manufacturing Company Limited (“Jiangsu Lee & Man")
expired on 31 December 2006 and it is subject to a reduced tax
rate of 10%, 22% and 24% for the calendar years of 2009,
2010 and 2011, respectively.

On 14 December 2009, Dongguan Lee & Man Paper Factory
Co Ltd ("Dongguan Lee & Man") was named as one of the
2009 Guangdong Province New and High Technical Enterprise
(BHRESF AT 5). According to the PRC Law on Enterprise
Income Tax promulgated on 16 March 2007, Dongguan Lee &
Man is entitled to a concessionary rate of income tax at 15%

over 3 years, beginning on 1 January 2009.

On 28 December 2010, Guangdong Lee & Man was named as
one of the 2010 Guangdong Province New and High Technical
Enterprise (BERABFMTEE). According to the PRC Law
on Enterprise Income Tax promulgated on 16 March 2007,
Guangdong Lee & Man is entitled to a concessionary rate of
income tax at 15% over 3 years, beginning on 1 January 2010.

MEBBA (#)
FE (&)

MEBARIHENEERERAA
(MI#EX]) 2BEREHERZ
EEXFt+-_A=+—8BREH" m
HR-_ZZTAE —ZET—TEH_
E-——FEFAENFIREREHE
10% ~ 22% X% 24% B4 Fi -

RZEZNF+ZA+TMNAE - R
B EREmARAR ([REEX])
ES-_SENFERESHMEMD
E¥RE - -BER-_ZTLF=-R+
NAEMZPELCERSHRE R
EEXBH-ZTTAF-—A—BEA
ZE=FEEMNBREISY

RZE—ZFE+-_A=-+NA" E
REXES_T—ZTFERESH
BME¥EBE - BER_ZTLF
A+ AABEMZPBEDEMEH
ECOBEREXHZIE—ZEF—HA—
ARAZEE =-FEEFNEHEI5% -

BIGERAR AR 2010/11 F3] 89




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mEe

B3 R AR MY RE (4R)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—H I F/F

90

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conminuep)
PRC (Continued)

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law") and Implementation Regulation of
the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% from
1 January 2008 onwards. The EIT Law and Implementation
Regulations increase the tax rate for the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries to 25% with effect from the expiry of the Tax
Holiday and in the case of Jiangsu Lee & Man is on a

progressive basis over a period of five years.

Malaysia

The subsidiary in Malaysia carries on offshore trading activities
in Labuan, with other group companies which are non-
residents of Malaysia. As such, it is qualified as an offshore
trading company in Labuan and is charged at a fixed annual
rate of Malaysian RM20,000.

Macau

The Macau subsidiaries incorporated under Decree-Law
no. 58/99/M are exempted from Macau complementary tax
(Macau income tax) as long as they comply with the relevant

regulations and do not sell their products to a Macau resident.

Vietnam

The Vietnam subsidiaries are subjected to Vietnam Corporate
Income Tax at a maximum rate of 25%. No provision for
Vietnam Corporate Income Tax has been made for the year as
the Vietnam subsidiaries incurred losses for the year.

Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2010/11 Annual Report
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—H I F/F

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conminuep)
Hong Kong

During the year ended 31 March 2010, the Hong Kong Inland
Revenue Department (“IRD"”) commenced a field audit on the
Hong Kong tax affairs of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
In March 2010, the IRD issued protective profits tax
assessments of HK$52,325,000 relating to the year of
assessment 2003/2004, that is, for the financial year ended 31
March 2004, against certain subsidiaries of the Company.

In March 2011, the IRD issued further protective profits tax
assessments of HK$78,050,000 relating to the year of
assessment 2004/2005, that is, for the financial year ended 31

March 2005, against certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Subsequently, the IRD agreed to hold over the tax claimed for
the years of assessment 2003/2004 and 2004/2005 completely
after the Group purchased tax reserve certificates of
HK$39,670,000.

The directors believe that no provision for Hong Kong Profits
Tax in respect of the above mentioned protective assessments
is necessary. In addition, as far as the directors are aware, the
inquiries from the IRD are still at a fact-finding stage and the
IRD has not yet expressed any formal opinion on the potential
tax liability, if any, because the tax investigation has not

completed.

Other

The Group’s profit is subject to taxation in the place where its
profit is generated. Taxation arising in other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

FMSHB X ()
i

REBZE_ZFT—ZFEF=-A=+—H1
FE -BERBR(BERL R
BRARAIE THEBRARBE BB
EEMNEMET RZTE—TF=
A BB =/_Z2Z2N
RREE - NHE_FTTNF=A
ST —HULEMBEE mAREE
FHBRARELREEFSH B
52,325,000/ It °

R-ZT——F=Zh BERE—F
BTN —ETREMREE
=T RF=-_A=+—H1
BBREE AAQRETHEBEARR
B P (R % 1% F1 15 B4 5T 54 78,050,000
5T o

Hiz BHERRENRALBEEE
{839,670,000/8 L 2 T %12 » B
REN—TB=/“FTNR=F
TN —ETRRBFEE 2 BEN
EBFE-

BERAE HAM LM REEFR
REBFGHRAIELEE - LI &
EEERMAAM RERDEERR
SEER EARBRBAETDRTK
FTAB# B AR BLEER S A E (40
A)EERAMEXER -

HAitb

A E Y BB B B
BT BN BB o H b B IBIE
B9 B 4% 171 B % B8 3 [ PR 2 i 2
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—H I F/F

8. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (conTINUED) 8. REHHEXZ#E)
Other (Continued) Hith (&)
The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit per FERERTEREREES 2B
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as KO BNEELOT
follows:

2011 2010

—E——F —E—2F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Profit before tax & %4 B &2 7 1,984,126 2,070,198

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 24%  ZEAH L24% (Z T —ZTF :

(2010: 22%) (note i) 22% ) FHE 9 BLIA (M 5L 476,190 455,444
Tax effect of expenses not deductible 7~ B] FN & A 37 #9776 57 28
for tax purpose 11,182 25,673
Tax effect of income not taxable for B R TR U A B B S 2 2
tax purpose (31,838) (14,427)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised KRR IFE BN KT E 54,337 59,062
Utilisation of tax loss previously not AL RERIBEE
recognised (9,085)
Effect of tax exemption granted to RPN SR Tn b B A R EE R
Macau and Malaysia subsidiaries N E (127,792) (120,461)
Effect of tax exemption granted to Hi B AR ERREHNTE
other subsidiaries (166,571) (72,437)
Effect of different tax rates of ETRAREEREZENNHRE QR
subsidiaries operating in FRIARHRENZE
other jurisdictions (1,671) 95
Other tax exemptions (note ii) H 7% # e (B aEi) (48,664) (86,772)
Change in tax rate of certain ETHEB AR REE
subsidiaries (29,026) —
Overprovision in previous year EFREEE — (199)
Tax charge for the year FEMBREZ 136,147 236,893
notes: 5T -
(i) The domestic income tax rate in the jurisdiction where a substantial (i) EHRARNEEBRIBODERMEZ A
portion of the Group’s operation is based is used. AR EHTETE -
(i) Tax exemptions is calculated with reference to 40% of the cost of the (ii) MERENRARNAETHE QR E
purchase of qualified plant and equipment manufactured in the PRC by ETBREECAEREE RZEZK
certain subsidiaries of the Company. KE40%EHH o
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZF —E——#F=H=+—HI-F/ZF

9. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 9. FEEA

2011 2010
el T TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER THET

Profit for the year has been arrived  FZ R F&MNH
at after charging:

Directors’ emoluments EEEE 38,190 64,365
Staff salaries and other benefits, EIHSREMER -

excluding those of directors TEEES 418,265 351,284
Share-based payments, excluding ARG B TREESR

those of directors 307
Contributions to retirement benefit RKEFIET &It - TRFES

schemes, excluding those of

directors 30,591 18,875
Total employee benefit expense BTEMNAXEE 487,046 434,831
Amortisation of prepaid lease BT EFRIB

payments 8,485 12,862
Auditor's remuneration ZERD B & 4,294 4,676
Cost of inventories recognised as FERAER R

expense 11,452,435 8,312,782
Depreciation of property, plantand %% - @& & & & T &

equipment 544,096 484,252
Loss on disposal of property, plant HEWE  HEMREBEEZ

and equipment &5 18 1,169 5,621
Net foreign exchange loss S ONE H R — 676
Operating lease rentals in respect of +i REFHRKLHEEMRS

land and buildings 3,115
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 HE_-—F——F=ZHA=+—HI FZF

10. DIRECTORS" EMOLUMENTS 10. EEM<
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine (2010: FEINIERGNAMNES(ZE
eight) directors were as follows: —ZF )\ )M

Other emoluments

Hitni &

Contributions
Salaries and  to retirement

other benefit
benefits schemes  Share-based
Fees FeR BARER payments Total
we Hir g7l RN REXSRE &5t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FAET FRET FET FHT
Year ended 31 March 2011 —2-—-5%=ZH=+-8
LHEE
Executive directors HITEE
Lee Wan Keung Patrick i — -
Lee Man Chun Raymond =k 19,228 22,600
Lee Man Bun 308, 12,818 14,990
Kunihiko Kashima (note i) BEALCE (&) -
Non-executive directors FHITEE
Poon Chung Kwong ERK
Yoshio Haga (note i) FEEE (M)
Independent non-executive directors BUFNTEF
Wong Kai Tung Tony FROR
Peter A Davies Peter A Davies
Chau Shing Yim David IEE$
Year ended 31 March 2010 —E-TF=R=+—H
EFE
Executive directors HITEZE
Lee Wan Keung Patrick FiER — — - — -
Lee Man Chun Raymond 3 — 3,360 12 34,033 37,405
Lee Man Bun R — 2,160 12 22,677 24,849
Li King Wai Ross (note ii) i (M) — 1,350 9 — 1,359
Non-executive director HHTEE
Poon Chung Kwong BTN — — — 205 205

Independent non-executive directors BUHNTEE

Wong Kai Tung Tony FRUE 147 — _ _ 147
Peter A Davies Peter A Davies 200 — — — 200
Chau Shing Yim David FBIE K 200 — _ _ 200

547 6,870 33 56,915 64,365
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

10. DIRECTORS" EMOLUMENTS (conTinueD)

11.

For the two years ended 31 March 2011, no emoluments were
paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or
upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office.
None of the directors has waived any emoluments during the
two years.

notes:
(i) Mr Kunihiko Kashima and Mr Yoshio Haga were appointed on 30 June
2010.

(ii) Mr Li King Wai Ross resigned on 22 January 2010.

EMPLOYEES" EMOLUMENTS

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the
Group, two (2010: three) were directors of the Company
whose emoluments are disclosed in note 10 above. The
emoluments of the remaining three (2010: two) individuals

were as follows:

10.

11.

EEME ()

BHE-_Z——F=ZRA=+—HZWMW
FAAKEEYENEIAME T
EXZSIFEMANIMAEERRRK
ERAEEBRAZTZMHE - EMF
NETAEERENS -

FEE -
0] BBEACERERFERELREN
E-TESA=THEZE-

(i) FRBAEBR-_ZT—TF—A=-+
ZHEHTE -

EEME

rEEREMezAUAL  Hh
MU(ZTE—FF: =) AR
RIEEMHEMS DN Ll 103
B-HB="UAL(ZZT—ZF M
) zMEmT :

2011 2010
b B R T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FET
Salaries and other benefits e & EH g 7 6,002 3,202
Contributions to retirement R FIET B

benefit schemes 36 24
3,226

The emoluments were within the following bands: EENMEe N F TR -
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ 7t— 1,500,0005& 7T 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,0017 7t— 2,000,000 7T 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000 2,000,001/ 7T 2,500,000 7T —
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,500,0017 7t 3,000,00075 7T —
2
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

12. DIVIDENDS 12. BRE
2011 2010
el T TF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Dividends recognised as distribution: RAl 2l EDBAT
2010 final dividend of HK$0.08 —E-ETEKREARSETR
(2009: 2009 final dividend of Nil) 008 T (ZZFTNF :
per share ZETNFERERPRKRE) 364,115 —
2011 interim dividend of HK$0.06 T —FIREPEHRE
(2010: 2010 interim dividend of FRROGETL(ZT—TF -
HK$0.22) per share —E-TFHHRE
FRR0.22/E7T) 281,378 250,224
645,493 250,224
A final dividend of HK$0.08 per share in respect of the year EERBREEHE-_ZE——F=H
ended 31 March 2011 (2010: final dividend of HK$0.08 in STt BLEFEZRERESK
respect of the year ended 31 March 2010) has been proposed 0BT (ZTE—ZTFHE_ g -
by the directors and is subject to approval by the shareholders ZEFZA=+—RALFERHRKR
at the forthcoming annual general meeting. FRR0.08ETT) - AR Hx%EJE):'

PR K& -

If the 2010 interim dividend were adjusted for the effect of the firt 78 48 B AR B A I Bk Eﬁ FE28 BT &k IR
share-subdivision as set out in note 28, it would have been MOFRNTE A —_Z-—ZTFHH
HK$0.055 per share. R EABERO 0555%75 °
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of the basic and diluted earnings per share

attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the

following data:

13. BRER

FARAEGEHEANERERRK
BERNTIA T BIR SEREH ¢

2011 2010
—E——F BT
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET FHET
Earnings for the purpose of basicand AT EEREKRE T & & A
diluted earnings per share 1,847,979 1,833,305
2011 2010
—g——5 [EEEES
Number Number
of shares of shares
R4 & B M in & B

Weighted average number of ordinary
shares for the purpose of basic earnings
per share

Effect of dilutive potential ordinary shares:

R ESRER AN
EEBNET

4,605,481,669

4,549,682,963
ERREEEEYE

Share options ERE 103,335,070 99,136,844
Weighted average number of ordinary RN EEREE RN

shares for the purpose of diluted earnings % 38 A% N & F 15 &

per share U NERNEREY  4,648,819,807

The weighted average number of ordinary shares of both years
for the purposes of basic and diluted earnings per share has

been adjusted to reflect the effect of share subdivision as set

out in note 28.

RIBEME28FE - SHEEBRELRRK
BERNEBRINETFOHREE
HE - URBRBDOFRNTE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZF —E——#F=H=+—HI-F/ZF

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y% - BERZE
Furniture,
fixtures and
equipment Leasehold Plant and
Computer BH -~ improvements Motor machinery  Construction
Buildings system THE HENE vehicles BER  inprogress Total
BT EMRER R#EfE % AE e ERIR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T FHL FHL FHL T FHL FHL FisT
costT RA
At 1 April 2009 “ZZNEMA-A 2,324,142 21,978 151,891 384,712 43,076 8,960,403 1,584,463 13,470,665
Exchange realignment ELEHMS - — (5) — (14) (172) (31,584) (31,775)
Additions wE 115,485 1,094 4,408 3,662 2,969 69,900 503,287 700,805
Transfers 3 233,492 — 176,149 17,577 747 688,778 (1,116,743) -
Disposalsfwritten off e/ HE (396) - (45) - (589) (1,575) - (8,605)
At31 March 2010 —2-%F
ZA=Zf-8 2,672,723 23,072 332,398 405,951 46,189 9,711,334 939,423 14,131,090
Exchange realignment EREHES 106,372 — 11,182 17,303 1,705 395,631 15,903 548,096
Additions NE 70,805 1232 7,450 16,864 3,285 38,906 1,505,483 1,644,025
Transfers 2 30,759 — 422 1,145 — 93,770 (126,09) -
Disposalsiwritten off e/ HE - - (1,404) (564) (73) (11,754) — (13,795)
At 31 March 2011 %
ZA=+-H 2,880,659 24,304 350,048 440,699 51,106 10,227,887 2,334,713 16,309,416
DEPRECIATION &
At 1 April 2009 “ZENENA-H 279,650 5223 42,083 56,403 25,353 839,083 — 1,247,795
Exchange realignment EREHES - - - - - (10) - (10
Provided for the year FREE 113,236 2,279 32,002 19,919 5,026 311,750 - 484,25
Eliminated on disposals HERBHH - — 31 - (113) (2,249) — (2,393)
At31 March 2010 —2-%F
ZA=f-8 392,886 7,502 74,094 76,322 30,266 1,148,574 — 1,729,644
Exchange realignment EXEHNAA 19,515 — 4292 3,608 976 54,942 — 83,333
Provided for the year FREE 124,385 2,430 56,653 21,309 43819 334,500 — 544,096
Eliminated on disposals HEREHE — — (290) — (44) (428) — (762)
At31 March 2011 —2——F
ZA=Zf-8 536,786 9,932 134,749 101,239 36,017 1,537,588 — 2,356,311
CARRYING VALUE REE
At 31 March 2011 %
ZA=t-H 2,343,873 14,372 215,299 339,460 15,089 8,690,299 2,334,713 13,953,105

At31 March 2010

2,279,837 15,570 258,304 329,629 15,923 8,562,760 939,423 12,401,446
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (conmvuepy 14, ¥13 ~ BB R &t (4)

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of property, plant BRERTIEI WE - BEER
and equipment other than construction in progress over their RIEFARAEEE  KEFARE
estimated useful lives and after taking into account of their BB AT IRITE AM SR AN
estimated residual values, using the straight-line method, at the FERMT -

following rates per annum:

Buildings 5% EF 5%
Computer system 10% BIES 10%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 20% FL -~ BEREREE 20%
Leasehold improvements 5% —15% HEMEEE 5% -15%
Motor vehicles 20% B 20%
Plant and machinery 3153% —20% RS K e 2s 3% - 20%
The carrying values of land and buildings of the Group REBZ T REEYERERRE
comprises:

2011 2010
e T TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER THET

Buildings on lands under medium-term A B A — I/ BATH EFH 49
lease in the PRC T+ FEF 2,343,873 2,279,837

Certain buildings of the Group are erected on lands in the PRC EEEETEFERNARTEH
with respect to which the Group has not been granted formal THFERAEEXEEE PR L
title of ownership. At 31 March 2011, the carrying value of EFeRZBE——F=ZA=+—8"
such buildings amounted to HK$993,057,000 (2010: % 5B F 2 IR E /993,057,000
HK$1,185,580,000). In the opinion of directors, the absence of L( = Z —F F :1,185,580,000 %
formal title to these buildings does not impair the value of the ) EERRRZZFEFER
relevant buildings to the Group as the Group has paid EERIYITZBEESEEEEEFE
substantially the full purchase consideration of these land rights B BALAEBEEINABHEER
and the probability of being evicted on the ground of an ZrwEIRERARREXER
absence of formal title is remote. The directors also believe that RERIE R E T e R T
formal title of these buildings will be granted to the Group in H - BEENMHEEETAKKREH
due course. ERBRTZSEEFCERERRE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

15. PREPAID LEASE PAYMENTS 15. FE{SHEMRIE
The Group’s prepaid lease payments comprise leasehold lands AEEBEMNHEERESFEFHBLY
held under medium-term leases located in: T THEEMR

2011 2010

Ll —ZTF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FET

PRC Hh 435,302 344,007
Vietnam i 45,692 37,489

480,994 381,496

2011 2010
Rl = ==
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin T

Analysed for reporting purposes as: WMERBMIEZ DT
Non-current asset EREBEE 471,121 373,826
Current asset mENEE 9,873 7,670

480,994 381,496

As at 31 March 2011, the carrying value of land use rights in T ET-—F=ZA=+—H: &8
respect of which the Group had not been granted formal title ARTERBEEE 2 THERAEY
of ownership amounted to HK$62,411,000 (2010: BRI {H 562,411,000 T (—Z 2 —F
HK$46,088,000). In the opinion of the directors, the absence T 1 46,088,000 L) ° EER AR
of formal title to these land use rights does not impair the value cRETHEABEABERELT
of the relevant properties to the Group as the Group has paid SREEEEHEERDEEE BRA
substantially the full purchase consideration of these land rights EEEENAFMESEZ TiEZ
and the probability of being evicted on the ground of an RERURRIEXEFERNIESRT
absence of formal title is remote. The directors also believe that WE e e 2 MFTEMN - EF
formal title to these land use rights will be granted to the MEEETABKEEGER T Z
Group in due course. SRR EABRERE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

BEUE BERRBRL
i REFTNAT &

16. DEPOSITS PAID FOR ACQUISITION OF 16.
PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
LAND USE RIGHTS

NI ERAKERTHEERNE
MBENME  BEERRBR LM
ERENFT BEDE BER
REARLIERENBRAED
RIRA P EE33 8 ER ©

The deposits were paid by the Group in connection with the
acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use
rights for new production facilities. The related commitments
for acquisition of property, plant and equipment and land use
rights are disclosed in note 33.

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE 17. REEE QT 2w

2011 2010

e e T TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAET

Cost of unlisted investment JELETIRE KA = 1

Share of post-acquisition results and JEME W IB 1 2 E R E M2 E R

other comprehensive income (1)

Details of the Group’s associate at 31 March 2011 and 31
March 2010 are as follows:

RZE——F=ZA=Z=+—HR=F
—TF=ZA=+—HAEEHEL
AIFBMT

Place of Issued and Effective interest
incorporation  fully paid in the issued share
Form of and operations share capital capital held indirectly
Name of associate  entity structure %3 & BRTR BMESEERITRE Principal Activity
BENE BB ERFEBES EEuH HERAK BERER TEED
2010
—B-FF
Fortune Sight Group  Incorporated British Virgin Ordinary shares 19%  Investment holding in a PRC
Limited ("FSGL") Islands - US$1,000 subsidiary engaging in
the business of forestry
resources
EZEEFRAR K RERLHE TR BTS2 R 8 4R B R
("FSGL") —1,000%7T DA EEREMK
ER¥E
note: The Group was able to exercise significant influence over FSGL because it g AEEEFGLEEEFE N BAA

had the power to appoint one out of the three directors of that company.
On 7 June 2010, the Group entered into agreements with Resource
Management Service, LLC (“RMS”), an independent third party, to dispose
of the Group’s entire investment in, and the amounts due from, FSGL
amounted to HK$400,112,000 to RMS, at a consideration of
approximately HK$421,843,000. The disposal was completed on 29
October 2010 and a gain on disposal of approximately HK$21,731,000
was recognised for the year.

SEERZAZRA=ZMNEEHHN
—EE-R-_ZT—ZTF~AtLH-
7R & @ 8 AL A K 3% & A F)Resource
Management Service, LLC ("RMS")%& 5] 1%
% 0 DA#9421,8430008 TR E H E X
A RIPAFSGLZ 2 8P % & K FSGLET R 3878
400,112,000/ 7C FRMS » HHERX FH =
T-ZTF+AZFTABRER  HEWSE
#921,731,0008 7T 2 R F R FER ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (contivueD) 17. REEE R B 2= (&)
The summarised consolidated financial information of FSGL is FSGLMER A BER BTN T -

set out below:

At At

29.10.2010 31.3.2010

—E-ZfF —E-FF

+tA=1+hB EEEas

HK$ 000 HK$'000

FTHET FAET

Total assets EERE 426,026 409,761
Total liabilities BELE (517,479) (499,013)

Net liabilities FEE (91,453) (89,252)

The Group's share of net liabilities of NEE EEFSGLF B &

FSGL _
Period ended Year ended

29.10.2010 31.3.2010

BZE HE

S5 = =

TAZTAA ==

H R FE

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHET FAT

Revenue A = —
Loss for the period/year B/ FRNEE (46,652) (45,480)
Other comprehensive income Hi 2 mP s 827

The Group’s share of loss and other HF AN A B E(LFSGLE 18 K
comprehensive income of FSGL for E b 2w
the period/year
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e M |KRMEE (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

17. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (contivueD) 17. REEERTR 2w (&)

The Group discontinued recognition of its share or losses in AR AN &£ B PAFSGLEY 2 51 E 16 B 18
FSGL because its cumulative share of losses in FSGL exceeded BBERERAER  HASEEBE K IE
its investment cost. TR H B FSGLIE 18 -

The amounts of unrecognised share of losses in FSGL, extracted i AR R FE(RFSGLE B8 (i 8x 8
from the relevant unaudited management accounts of FSGL, EHEFSGLAK EZEEIRE - B8
both for the year and cumulatively from the date that FSGL NEE R AFSGLK &AL B & QD
became an associate of the Group, were as follows: A HRE M EFEHE) LT

2011 2010
Sl = =~
HK$'000 HK$'000
Fin T

Unrecognised share of losses of FSGL A4 & 14 7K 1 52 FE (L FSGLIES 1B
for the year (C:R:1)) (8,641)

Accumulated unrecognised share 2T R R (R FSGLE 1B

of losses of FSGL (18,887)
18. INVENTORIES 18. 78

2011 2010
—E2——F —E-FTF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FAT
Raw materials B} 2,459,146 1,752,994
Finished goods SR T 507,592 450,864

2,966,738 2,203,858

BEXCERARAR 2010/11 5% 103




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZF —E——#F=H=+—HI-F/ZF

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 19. WEZ K H AR

2011 2010

el T TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TET FHET

Trade receivables TEWE SR 1,880,295 1,812,394
Bills receivables e E R 1,146,969 511,465

3,027,264 2,323,859
Prepayments and deposits for purchase B B R £ 78 1+ 3% 18

of raw materials 534,908 506,524
Other deposits and prepayments HEMET® MFE A 152,359 251,288
Deferred consideration receivables JE W BT B A BIEIE R (B

for disposal of subsidiaries — 58,139
VAT receivables JrE U 12 {8 B B 247,816 66,208
Other receivables H i, & W kIR 112,701 111,761

4,075,048 3,317,779
The Group generally allows its customers an average credit REB —RETEPLPHIEHEEH
period of 45 to 90 days. The following is an aged analysis of B4SHZEINH - TR ABERS H
trade and bills receivables presented based on the invoice date REZAMZERESEREER
at the end of the reporting period. RIBRER DA ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conTinuED) 19. WE S REMERTR (&)

Aged: BRER -
Less than 30 days 308
31 - 60 days 31H-60H
61— 90 days 61H-90H
91— 120 days 91H-120H

Over 120 days 1208 Mk

2011 2010
el T TF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FER THET
2,458,746 1,661,081
422,295 379,278
128,562 261,922
13,473 11,192
4,188 10,386
3,027,264 2,323,859

Before accepting any new customer, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines its credit limits.
Credit sales are made to customers with a satisfactory
trustworthy credit history. Credit limits attributed to customers
are reviewed regularly. The directors considered all trade
receivables at the reporting date are of good credit quality with
reference to the track records of these customers under internal
assessment by the Group.

Included in the Group’s trade receivables balances are debtors
with an aggregate carrying amount of HK$17,661,000 (2010:
HK$21,631,000) which were past due at the end of the
reporting period but for which the Group has not provided for
impairment loss as the Group considered such balances could
be recovered based on historical experience. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these balances. The Group takes
into consideration the estimated cash flows when determining
evidence of impairment loss.

AREERZREAHEFA - &:F
HHEBEEFPNEEEERATH
EERE - EEHESGLTEER
EHRRENEF - EFEERBETE
BT At o EAKE ARG
T REZFEFPMEMALE &
ERRERERHMARKE SR
REABRUYEEEE -

AEBEKEZIERERTBEER
8k ® 18 £17,661,000 8 0 ( — & —
T 021,631,000 L) MEKRE 5
RR 2SRERREHRESS
H WASERARBBRTLR -
ZEREBEY T AME - S
RREEBEE AEELEMZ
EEBPTECAERR - AEER
ETREEERERE RMEEE

A =2
EZILE °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (conTinuED) 19. WE S REMERTR (&)

Ageing of trade receivables which were past BHEEARENERE SRR
due but not impaired H B e

2011 2010

e e = =~

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT Fi T

61 —90 days 61H -90H — 53
91— 120 days 91H -120H 13,473 11,192
Over 120 days 120B A £ 4,188 10,386

17,661 21,631

No allowance for doubtful receivables has been recognised for W8 F A R W R R TE R

both years as the directors considered these trade receivables REE ZERESERABRBATLE

balances could be recovered based on historical experience. B 2SRWESIRFIEHRT TR
@ o

Trade and other receivables that are denominated in currencies WHNEHRERERIGEEKHE

other than the functional currency of the relevant group entities WEKE S REMBRROAT :

are set out below:

2011 2010

L T TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

TERT FHET

HK$ BT 370,648 305,635
United States dollars (“US$") Z(Tuss]) 240,248 157,849
Euro (“EUR") Bt ([EUR]) — 1,502

Japanese Yen (“JPY") Bt ([JPY]) — 169
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W

BUHHRRME (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

20. AMOUNTS DUE FROM AN ASSOCIATE

21.

22.

At 31 March 2010, the amounts represented non-trade
balances due from FSGL and its subsidiary. The amounts were
unsecured, repayable on demand and carried interest at 3.22%
(2011: 3.22%) per annum.

AMOUNTS DUE FROM RELATED COMPANIES

The amounts represent trade balances due from Jiangsu Lee &
Man Chemical Limited (“Jiangsu Chemical”) and Lee & Man
Industrial Manufacturing Limited (“Lee & Man Industrial
Manufacturing”) which are beneficially owned by Mr Lee Wan
Keung Patrick, a director and the ultimate controlling party of

the Company and his daughter, respectively.

The amounts are unsecured and interest-free. The Group
generally allows related companies an average credit period of
30 days and the amounts for both years were aged less than
30 days. As at the end of the reporting period, the balances
were neither impaired nor past due.

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK
BALANCES AND CASH

Bank balances and cash comprise cash held by the Group and
short term bank deposits with an original maturity of three
months or less.

The restricted bank deposits of HK$949,000 (2010:
HK$1,908,000) represent monies secured by the PRC
government for certain commercial purposes of which the
security period will expire within one year from the end of the

reporting period and are therefore classified as current assets.

The restricted bank deposits carried market interest rate of
0.36% (2010: 0.36%) per annum. Bank balances carried
market interest rates ranging from 0.01% to 2.20% (2010:
0.34% to 2.20%) per annum.

20. EEEEE D

21.

22.

EIE/ S|

—E-TF=ZA=+—H ZXHE
EREWFSGLEEMBARMNIEE S
fER e RRBEREEMR  AEREX
1@5&&T§$7F|JZ‘33.227(:’—;——$:

32[@)EHHE -

WA BELQAFNIE

EERERIHEXILIBERAF
(I #1{t T 1) Flee & Man Industrial
Manufacturing Limited ([ 32 XX & 2 )
H’Uf’f%ﬁ*ﬁ% CMERARNEERE
DRBRRBEE REKEST
$@€§%$&E§§E °

%Eﬁﬁﬁﬁ&%ﬁomﬁl—ﬁ
MTHEATSOREER %X
PWEFENRRKDN30A8 - #ﬁ

FHR - AR ERESRAY -
EIZE ﬁ':-‘u ﬁE ﬁ &fﬂ ’fi— =]
REE
RITEBREBACERAEEFTED

BekRIHAR=EAH AR
RHRITER -

B 949000 L( =T — T F ¢
1,908,000 % 7T, ) 2 A R #l &R 17 17 X
BRAETHXEBEAMIMN FTHEK
I FRERITEONRIE - MZ
REBBEERSHRET —FARE
W MZEREEDERRBEE -

ERGBIVITERTEMSFEX
036%( ZF —Z F :036%)° M
WITHEBRTAEMISFEEH0%
£220%( = F — T F:034% =
220%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

22.

23.

RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK 22.

BALANCES AND CASH (conTinuED)

Bank balances that are denominated in currencies other than
the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set

BRFIRITFRRIBITALR

SEEAE )

VINEREEERDEERETE

EVERTTAE SR BTN ¢

2011
—_E——5F
HK$'000
THET

out below:

HK$ BT

uss E

Great British Pound (*GBP") # 4 ([GBPY)
EUR (o

RMB AR

JPY =2

57,461

13,009
197

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2011
—E——F
HK$"000
FER

Current i)

Trade and bills payables ERHEZERRER
Accruals EstE R

Other payables H A FE A 5RI8

1,825,240
224,408
265,656

2,315,304

The average credit period taken for trade purchases ranges
from 30 to 90 days. The following is an aged analysis of the
trade and bills payables presented based on the invoice date at
the end of the reporting period.

2010
—E-FF
HK$'000
FHET
203,259
21,426
15,242

447

59

15

23. BERHESGREMERR

2010
—F-FF
HK$'000
FTET

1,094,287
224,408
636,136

1,954,831

BBEZFHREKEMH30E0R
" EF o TRARBREPREZRAY
ZENERRERZREDH -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

23. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (conTinUED) 23. ENEZRAEMEER &)
2011 2010
el T TF
HK$’'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Aged: BRER -
Less than 30 days DR30H 862,978 639,232
31 - 60 days 31H-60H 390,059 220,105
61— 90 days 61H-90H 554,281 158,494
Over 90 days 90HM k£ 17,922 76,456
1,825,240 1,094,287
Trade and other payables that are denominated in currencies WHNEHAERERBIGEEKHE
other than the functional currency of the relevant group entities MENZE S REMBERAT :

are set out below:

2011 2010
—E——F legeas

HK$’000 HK$'000

FTHET FE T

us$ EP 1,533,693 775,449
HK$ BT 87 36,924
EUR BT 1,386 6,858
JPY Bt 410 443
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZF - ZE——#F=H=+—HIFF/ZF

RITEE
AEBZRTEE(2HHORER

24. BANK BORROWINGS 24,

The Group’s bank borrowings, all of which are unsecured,

comprised of:

) B

2011 2010
—E——F —E—2F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FHET
Bank loans |ITER 7,829,054 7,063,065
Bank import loans RITHEOER 159,552 9,634
7,988,606 7,072,699
The bank borrowings are repayable as  $R1TfE EME KA T ¢
follows:
Within one year —F R 2,703,696 2,473,383
More than one year, but not exceeding #8i@ —F{B DR M E
two years 2,058,959 2,866,523
More than two years, but not exceeding #2 i@ F B DN HE
five years 3,224,665 1,732,793
More than five years BBEAF 1,286 —
7,988,606 7,072,699
Less: Amount due within one year B AR ARBDEED
shown under current liabilities — F RN R H A (2,703,696) (2,473,383)
Amount due after one year —FE BB HAIAE 5,284,910 4,599,316

& [ R 17 18 B B $57,988,606,000
BIL(ZE—ZF : 7,072,699,0007%
L) ZEEE  FERBERITAE
B I1090% E350% % - (=&
—ZTHE FBRITAZELF S I10.405%
£3.00%17%) »

The Group’s bank borrowings include HK$7,988,606,000
(2010: HK$7,072,699,000) variable-rate borrowings which
carry interest at rates ranging from Hong Kong Interbanks
Offered Rate (“HIBOR") plus 0.90% to HIBOR plus 3.50%
(2010: ranging from HIBOR plus 0.405% to HIBOR plus 3.00%)
per annum.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

24. BANK BORROWINGS (conTINUED) 24. SRITEE (&)
The weighted average effective interest rates on the Group’s AEFERITEECERF X NEF
bank borrowings are as follows: BHET -
2010
—T-THF
Variable-rate borrowings FEEE 3.00%
The Group’s bank borrowings that are denominated in WHNEEEEEREIGEEEHE
currencies other than the functional currency of the relevant ZAEERITHEELOT ¢
group entities are set out below:
2011 2010
et T TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FHET
HK$ BT 1,820,000 1,880,000
us$ ET 16,908 276,386
EUR B 7,371 —
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHERME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZF - ZE——#F=H=+—HIFF/ZF

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Current

i)

25. PTEMB TR

Non-current

FRE

2011 2010 2011 2010
TE-—F R T —F ks
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FER FET FERT FET
Derivative financial liabilites ~ #TA4 B E & &
— net settlement —FERMK
Derivatives under hedge REHETEAR
accounting ZITETA
Interest rate swaps (note i) F =45 B (B 3F0) (46,193) (95,318)
Other derivatives HthfT4ETH
(not under hedge (LR TS
accounting) sEANER)
Interest rate swaps (note i) 7 %42 5B (WY 33l —
Foreign currency forward GNERERA 4
contracts (note iii) (B4 =) (337) (3,543)
(337) (25,518)
(46,530) (120,836)
Derivative financial assets PTEMBEE
— net settlement —FERM
Other derivatives HifTE TR
(not under hedge (36 3E 4R 15 & 5
accounting) GiEAE)
Foreign currency forward HNEERERA
contracts (note iif) (B 3Eiii) 434

The fair values of the above derivative financial instruments are
calculated using discounted cash flow analysis based on the
applicable yield curves of interest rates and volatility of foreign

exchange rates as determined by the counterparties.

PRI EMB T RZ R FETIRE
HFHUBRBER 2 ERINE
MBERZEROFE - RIFTHR
ERENTRELEFE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 25. UTEMB T A (#)

(CONTINUED)
notes: B 5t
(0] Interest rate swaps - hedging accounting (0] FlREH —E5H

AEBERBAREY  BBEHDER

The Group uses interest rate swaps to minimise its exposure to cash flow

interest rate risk of its variable-rate HK$ bank borrowings (see note 24) by
swapping a proportion of the variable-rate bank borrowings from variable
interest rates to fixed interest rates. The interest rate swaps and the
corresponding bank borrowings have substantially the same terms and
the directors of the Company consider that the interest rate swaps are
highly effective hedging instruments. Major terms of the interest rate

RITEEHEE MR BEKEEN K
LR ERIET BB RITE AT A
EzReREFN =R (RHE24) -
Fm B RAAEZ RITEERITH A
BHERGR  EERA/FEEHTIESR
BRZEHTA -R-T——F=A=

swaps outstanding at 31 March 2011 are set out below:

Notional amount

HMeeH

T AMEEHOEZERBINOT -

Interest rate swap

25

2 contracts with HK$670,000,000 in total
214 #9#£670,000,0007% 7T

1 contract with HK$670,000,000
119 & #9670,000,0005% 7T

From HIBOR to fixed rates of 4.75% and 5.00%
MmEBIRITRFER B8R ZF 84.75% %25.00%

From HIBOR to rate floored at 4.65% and capped at 5.50%
HEBRTARXFEHEEREL65%E EIR550%

Major terms of the interest rate swaps as at 31 March 2010 were as RZE—ZF=ZA=1T—AMNEHEHZFE

follows:

Notional amount

HMeeH

RN -

Interest rate swap

=1

2 contracts with HK$1,000,000,000 in total
213 & #93£1,000,000,0005% 7T

1 contract with HK$1,000,000,000

From HIBOR to fixed rates of 4.75% and 5.00%
MEBRITRAFERT BRZETE B4.75% %500%

From HIBOR to rate floored at 4.65% and capped at 5.50%

117 & #91,000,000,0007% 7T

The above contracts will mature within two years (2010: three years) from
the end of the reporting period.

During the year, gains from fair value changes of HK$61,611,000 (2010:
HK$36,547,000) were recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity and are expected to be released to the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income at various dates in line with the
interest and principal payments schedule of the corresponding bank
borrowings in the coming two years (2010: three years). A loss from fair
value changes of HK$33,000 (2010: gain from fair value changes of
HK$2,517,000) was recognised in profit or loss as it represented an
ineffective portion of the loss on the hedging instruments.

HEBRITRAERFEEERKL65%ZE ER550%

FRANEaRERARERE (T —FF
=F)REE -

FAN - HAFEZHESZ155%61,611,0008
JTT(ZZT—Z 4 : 36,547,000/ T) DR Ef 2
EW AN ERRAERP R EIE - BHER
KRME(ZT—FF: =F)EAHBEER]T
BEZFERAS ZNHRTRB FEE4R
Ala R - BAFEEEE SR E 833,000
TERBEETER(ZE—ZTF: AATE
HE)EE 7 IWZ2,517,0008 T) - BZEEE
BERE R TAER BB -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 25. PTHEBB IR (&)

(CONTINUED)

notes: (Continued) Misk : ()

(i)  Interest rate swaps - not under hedging accounting (i) F=mB-FEFFED
Major terms of a contract outstanding as at 31 March 2010 not under RZE-—ZTF=ZA=+—H3¥kEtY
hedging accounting were as follows: 22— ERBNEERINNOT
Notional amount Interest rate swap
BaeE Fl & EH
1 contract with HK$500,000,000 From HIBOR to 4.80%
113 4 #7500,000,0007% 7T HBEABRITRAER B E480%

The above contract matured (2010: within one year) during the reporting
period.

(iii)  Foreign currency forward contracts (iii)
Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at

FRAHREABREHEAR(ZE-F

F:-FR)HH-

HIEEAEH

R_Z——F=A=+—BKRIHIH

31 March 2011 are as follows: HEEHENZ TEHARAT ¢

Notional amount Currency conversion

#HeeH EER

4 contracts to buy GBP14,600,000 in total GBP1:US$1.5883 to 1.6183.

413 & %) F£ B 14,600,000 3 5 1545 5, 1.5883 % 1.6183% 7T

Major terms of the foreign currency forward contracts outstanding as at R-IE—ZF=ZA=+—HBRINBAINEEH
31 March 2010 were as follows: ERZEEERRET :

Notional amount Currency conversion

BeeH EREn

3 contracts to buy GBP6,400,000 in total GBP1:US$1.4850 to 1.5196

319 & %93 B 6,400,000 &5 15845 5.1.4850 % 1.5196 % 7T

2 contracts to buy EUR7,501,584 in total EUR1:US$1.3750 to 1.4477

219 & #13£ B 7,501,584 B 7T 18T 71,3750 % 1.4477 % 7T

The above contracts will mature within one to two months (2010: one to e HBERRE—EMEA(ZF—
five months) from the end of the reporting period. TE:—ZREA) NEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

25. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 25. TTEMBITHE (&)
(CONTINUED)
Derivative financial instruments that are denominated in currencies other than the NEMEEERNEEB M 2 EBEELZ
functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below: PTHEMBIAEZRINNT

2011 2010
—g——% —F-%F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FET
Derivative financial assets HEMBERE
GBP E 434
Derivative financial liabilities PTHEMEAE:
EUR BT 3,252
GBP HeE 291
26. DEFERRED TAX 26. EIEBIIA
The following are the major deferred tax liabilities recognised TERAETZEREMBAGERREE
and movement thereon during the current and prior reporting ERTMBERESHNZ EE -
periods.
Undistributed
Accelerated earnings
tax of PRC
depreciation  subsidiaries Tax losses Total
FEMELR
BEBERE ROWZFE BIEEE wmst
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAET FHT FTET FTiET
At 1 April 2009 —EENFNA—H 208,434 4,145 (55,000) 157,579
Charge to profit or loss FARBREREMR 106,960 — 55,000 161,960
At 31 March 2010 —E—TF
=R=+—H 315,394 4,145 — 319,539
Change in tax rate of certain ETHBRARREREH
subsidiaries (29,026) — — (29,026)
Charge to profit or loss RE=EMR 69,850 — — 69,850
At 31 March 2011 —E——F
—A=+—~H 356,218 4,145 — 360,363
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

26.

116

DEFERRED TAX (conTINUED)

At 31 March 2011, the Group had unused tax losses of
approximately HK$786,000,000 (2010: HK$560,000,000)
available for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset
has been recognised in respect of such losses for both years
due to unpredictability of future profit streams and the tax
losses may be carried forward indefinitely.

According to the EIT Law, dividend paid to foreign investors out
of profit earned by entities established in the PRC from 1
January 2008 onwards is subject to withholding tax at 10%.
For investors incorporated in Hong Kong and holding at least
25% of equity interest in a PRC company, a preferential rate of
5% can be applied. The Group has not provided for deferred
tax liability in respect of the relevant undistributed profits of its
PRC subsidiaries because the directors believe that the
Company is able to control the timing of the distribution by its
subsidiaries such that no withholding tax will be payable in the
foreseeable future. As at the end of the reporting period, the
aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with
undistributed profits of the PRC subsidiaries for which deferred
tax liabilities have not been recognised amounted to
approximately HK$62.4 million (2010: approximately HK$18.7

million).

Accelerated tax depreciation was adjusted in current reporting
period for the effect of concessionary rate of income tax at
15% for Guangdong Province New and High Technical
Enterprise entitled by certain subsidiaries of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS EBRER S
(@) Plans for Hong Kong employees (@ REBEEMRNEE
Defined benefit plan FE AT E
The Group is a member of a defined benefit plan which REEBEE— @R T MEE
was open to qualified employees of the Group’s Hong ® Ak B - #% &t &l % Fortune Star

Kong subsidiary, the plan is managed by Fortune Star
Tradings Ltd (“Fortune Star”) which is beneficially owned
by Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, a director of the Company.
In December 2000, all the existing members of the
defined benefit plan were enrolled into a MPF Scheme
and their accrued benefits for the past services under the
defined benefit plan were frozen as at 30 November
2000. The defined benefit plan was closed to new

employees from December 2000 onwards.

Tradings Ltd ([ Fortune Star|) &
P HAEENETENE A
Alz A EKEB 2 H - Fortune
StarNE S EAEARARRAE
EFEREE -RN_TTTF
+ZA RERFZEFEER
FTERBE AELLHEH—THR

Eertd MESERTEHE
#iﬂlﬁ‘i‘fﬂﬁﬁ&i‘%ﬁﬁ B 25+
BRAR-_ZTTTF+—A=T
B#RE B _TTTF+=
Ak AERAETHIRME
THEBERE -

Under the defined benefit plan, employees are entitled to BRIEATRMNTE - EBEREF
retirement benefits varying between 0% and 100% of fE T+ R R K 2 BR FF A JE ER
their final salary as at 30 November 2000 multiplied by HRRENEERER_-_EZ

the pensionable service year up to 30 November 2000 on
attainment of a retirement age of 55. No other post-

retirement benefits are provided.

The most recent actuarial valuation of the defined
benefits plan assets and the present value of the defined
benefit obligation was carried out at 31 December 2010
by HSBC Life (International) Limited. The present values
of the defined benefit obligation, the related current
service cost and past service cost were measured using

the projected unit credit method.

ZE+-A=ZTHRREFS
HZEE100% T % ERUEZE
—EFFTFE+-A=tHIN
Bt RREHRIEFEE - A%
@Iﬁhhﬁm KIEEH) o

A5 BUA B R R R
AEREZ BRI AE
Ty E 2 ABRR (RR) AR
AR R-F-FE+-A=
+— BRI - RERENK
FERE  BRZRERERA
KB = ) BRI L AR Ty IR A TR A
BRI IR H -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conminuED) 27. RRERFTE (&)
(@) Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued) (a) AEBEEMROE(£)
Defined benefit plan (Continued) AERFIGE (&)
The main actuarial assumptions used were as follows: FFTAMEEREREZNT :

31 December 31 December

2009

—ETNEF

+=-—A=+—8

Discount rate 8538 =& 0%

Expected return on plan assets sTEIEETAHIE R 3%
The actuarial valuation shows that the market value of BEAEBRIAEEERE
plan assets at 31 December 2010 was HK$ 1,486,000 (31 —ZEF+-_A=+—HBzmE
December 2009: HK$1,479,000) and that the actuarial 1,486,000 T(Z T NF
value of these assets represented 260% (31 December +=—A=+—H : 1,479,000/8
2009: 232%) of the benefits that were accrued to L) MZSEEEZHEEEE
members. THEERFTERERENEZ
260%(ZZEETNF+ZA="

—H :232%) °
Amounts recognised in profit or loss in respect of the M8 5 &R B R E AR A G B RER
defined benefit plan are as follows: WESEENAT :

2011 2010

-l R T —TF

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FET

Expected return on plan assets =T E1& E 78 B =l ¥ (CE)) (48)

Actuarial gain recognised in the year FRIFEESRER (PL)] (592)

Total, included in other income Wt BEFAHMKRA (72) (640)
The actual return on plan assets for the year was FEIEERAFENER LR
HK$72,000 (2010: HK$640,000). R720008 (T —F &

640,000/ 7T ) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conminuED) 27. RRERFTE (&)
(@) Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued) (@) BEBEEMRMTE (&)
Defined benefit plan (Continued) AERFIGE (&)
The amounts included in the consolidated statement of AEEMNERKEMNEES A
financial position in respect of the Group’s retirement FEMBRARNEENT

benefit assets are as follows:

2011 2010

L T TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET FHET

Fair value of plan assets FEIEEAYTE 1,486 1,479
Present value of funded obligations AYERIENIRE (572) (637)

At end of the year Fx 842
Movements in the fair value of the plan assets are as FEEEATFEMNEHNT
follows:
2011 2010
- LR N T —TF
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
At beginning of the year F 1) 1,479 985
Expected return of plan assets B EFTEIER =R 43 48
Actuarial gains BESR 29 592
Assets transferred out to BEEHMEFCEE
other employers (146)
Benefits paid [=ENE K -
At end of the year F 1,479
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z =ZF——

FZA=1—HILFE

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conTinUED) 27. BARBEREE ()
(@) Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued) (@) BEBEEMRMTE (&)
Defined benefit plan (Continued) AERFIGE (&)
Movements in the present value of the funded obligations AERENESHET :

are as follows:

2011 2010
g T TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
At beginning of the year NG 637 783
Assets transferred out to HREHMEZZEE
other employers (146)
Benefits paid [=ENE Y -
At end of the year R 4K 637
The major categories of plan assets, and the expected FrEIEEZEZHA  UERE
rate of return at the end of the reporting period for each RN R EB R 2 AR O 3R =
category, are as follows: LN
Expected return Fair value of plan assets
5 3R FEEELNTE
2011 2010
Ll T ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FET

Debt instruments
Cash and cash equivalents

EBETE 1,437
R RREEEY

Weighted average expected
return

g9 A R

120 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2010/11 Annual Report




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

27. RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS (conminueD)

(a)

(b)

Plans for Hong Kong employees (Continued)

Defined contribution plan

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all qualifying
employees. The assets of the scheme are held separately
from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
trustees. The Group contributes the lower of HK$1,000
or 5% of the relevant monthly payroll costs to the MPF
Scheme.

Plan for PRC employees

The employees employed in the PRC subsidiaries are
members of the state-managed retirement benefit
scheme operated by the PRC government. The PRC
subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of their payroll to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is to

make the required contributions under the scheme.

27. RARBEREE (#)

(a)

(b)

ABEBEEMRNE (H)

FUE G 8
AEERABERERREERL
—HBEEAE - ZATEINE
ERAKENEESIRTA -
ARBAGTEAEENES -
A& E 21,0008 B A
#r RN B95% o A 98 A & At &
o

7\ 7

RPEEE MRS

TEEARREANEENDS
B B U S R B R B IR R
REMEHE - PEMERRA
HREFEMNETANL @
BB EIHER - (ERRET
2o NG BRI 8 R E &
R — B IR REERE

AR -

EERBR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

e VB mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #Z =ZF——

FZA=1—HILFE

28. SHARE CAPITAL 28. A
Number of
ordinary
shares Amount
EBEREE K]
Notes HK$'000
BiEE THT
Authorised: ETE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each R-ZZEENENA—HEKA
at 1 April 2009 and BE010BTTH B & 2,000,000,000 200,000
Share subdivision Bt 4 0) 6,000,000,000 —
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each RZE-—ZTF=A=1+—HK
at 31 March 2010 and —T—F=R=+—H
31 March 2011 FREE0SH TR E Bk 8,000,000,000 200,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRAR
Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each RZZEZNEMA—-BERE
at 1 April 2009 01074 T ) E iR 1,137,380,412 113,738
Shares subdivision Binn I 0) 3,412,141,236 —
Exercise of share options 110 BE AR e (ii) 1,280,000 32
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each RZE-—ZTF=ZA=1+—H
at 31 March 2010 BREECSHE TN L @K 4,550,801,648 113,770
Exercise of share options 1T R RS i (iii) 138,821,332 3,471
Ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each RZE——F=R=+—H
at 31 March 2011 FREECSHE T L @ 4,689,622,980 117,241
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FEMBHRERME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZE-F——F=HA=+—HILFE

28. SHARE CAPITAL (continuED)

notes:

(U]

(i)

(iii)

Pursuant to an announcement of the Company dated 30 November 2009
and an ordinary resolution passed on 18 December 2009, a share
subdivision was approved with effect from 21 December 2009 in which
each of the existing issued and unissued shares of HK$0.1 each in the
share capital of the Company would be subdivided into four shares of
HK$0.025 each. As at 21 December 2009, the authorised share capital of
the Company was HK$200,000,000 divided into 8,000,000,000 shares,
of which 1,137,380,412 shares were issued and fully paid. On this basis,
immediately after the share subdivision, the authorised share capital of
the Company comprised 4,549,521,648 issued shares and 3,450,478,352
unissued shares of par value HK$0.025 each.

During the year ended 31 March 2010, 1,280,000 share options under
the Scheme (as defined in note 29) were exercised at a subscription price
of HK$3.775 per share, resulting in the issue of 1,280,000 ordinary shares
of HK$0.025 each in the Company.

During the year ended 31 March 2011, 5,488,000 and 133,333,332 share
options under the Scheme (as defined in note 29) were exercised at a
subscription price of HK$3.775 and HK$1.872 per share respectively,
resulting in the issue of 138,821,332 ordinary shares of HK$0.025 each in
the company.

All the shares issued rank pari passu with the then existing

shares in all respects.

28. BRA (&)

FEE -

)

(if)

(iii)

BOTMMARMDEMRE T E
# IR A R

*E%FZK ZThEFE+—A=+AH
ﬁ&ﬁ" TENF+= H‘f’)\ElL
B EBRER BEBROGSF -
;ﬁgn¢+:ﬂ_+faix&vﬁ%$
NRIEEEREEO I BTEBITRE
BT DA 4% - BREE 0.025
/%EL’E’:\f’-?EjLi‘f’fﬂf‘l'—
B A2 AEE R A 200,000,000 7
JL 9 #F 4 8,000,000,000 & B 5+ H
1 1,137,380,412 R A BEITRER
B&fn o IR ER - R DIFE - AR
RAlEE RA B IESREE 0.025 %
JL 2 4,549,521,648 [& 2 B 1T 15
3,450,478,352 IR AR BT ©

HE-T-ZTF=—A=+—HALEE
" - *E(T)%E%HX$E’+§“ (FEBME29)
T+ 1,280,000 A% i A% # LA & B 3R §
8 3.775 B BT - IRILA R BT

1,280,000 AR B AR EI{A 0.025 Btz &
B -

HE-_Z——F=ZA=+—HLFE
A RMEEAREE (BE R 29)
T 5,488,000 i% & 133,333,332 %
BRESFNSRABEI 7758 T
5 1.872 BITEITHE - BULAR R
138,821,332 IR ERMEE 0.025 BTz
LA AR 1 ©

-*.é.‘-ﬁd:
>~ B

TERSES -

EERBR AR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

me

PR Rk MY RE (4)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

29.

124

SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS

Pursuant to the written resolution of the shareholders of the
Company dated 11 September 2003, the share option scheme
(the “Scheme"”) was approved and adopted.

The Scheme was established for the purpose of providing
incentives to directors and eligible persons. The Scheme will
remain in force for a period of ten years from adoption of the

Scheme. The Scheme will expire on 10 September 2013.

Under the Scheme, the Board may at their discretion grant
options to (i) any director (including executive directors, non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors)
and employees of the Group in which the Group holds an
equity interest or a subsidiary of such company; or (ii) any
advisors, consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers,
agents, customers, business partners, promoters, service
providers of any member of the Group may be determined by
the Board from time to time to subscribe for the shares of the
Company (the “Shares”).

Options granted must be taken up within 28 days of the date
of grant. The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted under the Scheme shall not exceed
10% of the issued share capital of the Company at any point in
time. The maximum number of Shares in respect of which
options may be granted to any individual in any 12-month
period shall not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue on the last
date of such 12-month period unless approval of the
shareholders of the Company has been obtained in accordance
with the Listing Rules.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B RRMEE (E)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 29. UREXNARZ (&)

(CONTINUED)

Options may be exercised during such period (including the
minimum period, if any, for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised) as may be determined by the Board
(which shall be less than ten years from the date of issue of the
relevant option). Options may be granted without initial
payment except the payment of HK$1 as consideration for
grant of option each time. The exercise price is equal to the
highest of (i) nominal value of the Shares; (ii) the closing price
of the Shares as stated in the daily quotations sheet issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of the grant; and (iii) the
average closing price of the Shares as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange for the five

ERAAREZGRENHE(E

R R T(E A AT A B R 1
R(mA))TEBREGZHRHA
F'ﬂﬁﬂx%%éﬁﬁ%i#? SHEEt+
F) - BTAXMELERTRE

Fﬂﬁﬂxﬁéﬂ’ﬂﬂﬁﬁ\\ - ERRER R R
BIER N ROBR TRE - 17
EEESFRTIRSE : ORODE
B ¢ (it R&E T B HHEH&“\FR#
AIMERMTIOETE - Rk
EEERLBERAAEE XA ER
R ARERMAROFHETE -

business days immediately preceding the date of the grant.

(@) Share options granted on 3 October 2006 () R=ZEERFTA=ZHRH
(9 B8 AR #E

TRBEERA-_ZZENF+A=
BEOZERENETZEREE
(BEER)FE L ABEREF

The following table discloses details of the Company’s
options granted on 3 October 2006 under the Scheme
held by employees (including directors) and movement in

such holdings during the year: ERRFANE
Number of share options
BRER

Outstanding Outstanding

Exercise  Outstanding Cancelled Exercised at Exercised at

price at during during 31 March during 31 March

Category Date of grant HKS 1 April 2009 the year the year 2010 the year 2011

R-Z2RNF it S 23 R-g—-F

e BA-H ZB=t-8 ZR=t-H

Y] RiAH B AR FRiEH Enfif WA ERfE AR
Directors 3 October 2006

EE ZEERETAZR 3775 5,083,000 — (12800000 3808000  (3,808,000) -
Other employees 3 October 2006

EfbEE “ETETAZA 3775 2880000 (1,200,000 — 1680000 (1,680,000 -

7968000  (1,200000)0  (1,280,000) 5488000 (548,000 -

Exercisable at
the end of the year
RERTAIEHE 5,488,000 -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

M BHRERME (&)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

(@) Share options granted on 3 October 2006
(Continued)

The options granted on 3 October 2006 were exercisable

in accordance with the following terms of the Scheme as

to:

(i)

(iii)

up to 6,704,000 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 January 2008 to 31 December
2010, with vesting period from 3 October 2006 to
31 December 2007, the fair value of each option at
the date of grant is approximately HK$1.0325;

up to 14,008,000 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 January 2009 to 31 December
2010, with vesting period from 3 October 2006 to
31 December 2008, the fair value of each option at
the date of grant is approximately HK$1.1175; and

up to 21,312,000 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 January 2010 to 31 December
2010, with vesting period from 3 October 2006 to
31 December 2009, the fair value of each option at

the date of grant is approximately HK$1.1725.

29. URELZRRS (#)

(a)

EA—V?/\QE—I—H E?EH:II
WEBRE (&)

R-ZZBERFTAZARHZ
R R AT AR IR AT &) T MY IRSRTT

1%

(i)

(if)

(iii)

TENEFE— A —

—TE-E2EF 4=
A=+—BAET#E&S
6,704,000 i &) & I # I

BEMEHBA_ZTZEX
F+A=AE-_ZZ
F+-A=+—08" &
REEARHBEBZA
FEEETA1.03258 7T

i
H

HN ||

TENEF— A —

—TE-EHF 4=
A=+—BAET#E&ES
14,008,000 A #) i A% K&
BETEHB_-_ZTZT;
F+A= Eé:%?i}\
F+-_/F=+—8" B
REEARERHBEBRBZA
FEMGFAB117538 7T
&

i
H

HN ||

NHl

—ZETF—f—

—TF+=
A=+—HATfER%
21,312,000 A% 9 B8 A% # 2
BETEHHR_ZTZTA
F+A=ZHBHEZZZT N
F+ZA=+—8" 8
BRERLBEEAZA
FAEGETA1.17258 7T -

i
H

Lol
M
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ARE B R AR M (M)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZF —E——#F=H=+—HI-F/ZF

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 29. UREXARS (#)
(CONTINUED)
(b) Share options granted on 5 September b) R=ZZENFHLAEERH
2008 Y85 PR
The following table discloses details of the Company’s TEREBER-_ZTNFAAR
options granted on 5 September 2008 under the Scheme AR CEREFE T ZES
held by directors and movement in such holdings during REAREREFBERNFEA
the year: L EE
Number of share options
BREZR
Exercise  Outstanding Exerdsed  Outstanding Exerdsed  Outstanding
price at during at during at
Category Date of grant HKS 1 April 2009 theyear 31 March 2010 theyear 31 March 2011
RZBENE R-%-%F R-%--%
e BA-A ZRzt-H ZRzt-H
£l R A% A7 BRI ERhiTE HA{TE FRiTE BA{TE
Directors 5 September 2008
S “ZE)VENARA 1.872 200,000,000 — 200000000  (133333332) 66,666,668
Exercisable at the end of
the year
RERATEHE 66,666,668 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS
(CONTINUED)

128

(b) Share options granted on 5 September
2008 (Continued)

The options granted on 5 September 2008 may be

exercised in accordance with the following terms of the

Scheme as to:

(i)

(iii)

up to 66,666,668 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 September 2009 to 31 August
2013, with vesting period from 5 September 2008
to 31 August 2009, the fair value of each option at
the date of grant is approximately HK$0.4075;

up to 133,333,332 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 September 2010 to 31 August
2013, with vesting period from 5 September 2008
to 31 August 2010, the fair value of each option at
the date of grant is approximately HK$0.48; and

up to 200,000,000 of the options exercisable
commencing 1 September 2011 to 31 August
2013, with vesting period from 5 September 2008
to 31 August 2011, the fair value of each option at
the date of grant is approximately HK$0.5325.

29. URELZRRS (#)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

29. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 29. UREXNARZ (&)

(CONTINUED)
(b) Share options granted on 5 September b) R=ZZENFHLAEERH
2008 (Continued) BB IR (42)

The exercise of the options during the exercise periods
described in (i), (i) and (iii) above, commencing from 1
September 2009 to 31 August 2013, are subject to
achievement of pre-determined and specific profit targets
for the Group for each of the years ending 2009, 2010
and 2011, respectively.

The estimated total fair value with respect to share
options granted to directors and employees on 3 October
2006 and 5 September 2008 was HK$23,653,000 and
HK$94,530,000, respectively.

An amount of HK$32,046,000 (2010: HK$57,221,000) was
charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income as administrative expenses for the year ended 31
March 2011.

note: The above information has been adjusted to reflect the effect of
share subdivision on 21 December 2009 as set out in note 28
pursuant to which each of the existing issued and unissued shares
of HK$0.1 each in the share capital of the Company were
subdivided into four shares of HK$0.025 each. Each of the options
were subdivided into four options and the exercise prices were

adjusted to the quarter of the original exercise prices accordingly.

“ETEAFNAA-BREC
Z-—=F N \A=+—BILRE
AT BRI AT 48 s ), (i) K (i)
BRER  AERAKERLY
MBE_TZTLF —T—F
FRZE-——F=A=+—H
LHEERFZEE RS ERM
ERE

R_TERFET+A=ZARZZT
ENFAARAABEE ZER
BYEERER  BEEtER
F{& 5 Bl £23,653,000 7 7T &
94,530,0007% 7T, °

32,046,000 T ( —Z & —F F:
57,221,000 L) EEEEZT
——F=A=+—HBLFEZ
BAEZERERUITERERA

o

S

MiEE - A EEME AEARRE LT
82BN ZFE  BUA
AEFEREER 01 BLTZH
BEBITRRBITRODEDHA
MR EREER 0.025 BT 2K
7 o SHBEED KD AL
BRBARTREMLAERAELSR
BITEENEYZ— -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ma

PR Rk MY RE (4)

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

30.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debt, which
includes the bank borrowings and equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company, comprising issued share capital and

various reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors consider the
cost of capital and the risks associated with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors, the Group
will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of
dividends, new share issues and share buy-backs as well as the

issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

30.

EXREBERE

AEBEREEAUERAEED
ERURAKLEER  YEBKE
EXARELOIAESHAEARMR
= E R o AEE R EREBUOR 4R AR
EF B

AEBNERAGEBEBRAB  EF
BRETEEARARAREDRFA
AEEES(BEEETEARZ
AR

ARREETHRFENGERE - 1F
BEREN—h EEHEEERN
AL EEEERNBRORAR
REEENEZ  A5EHBBK
FRCE ~ BT B K B B D DA R
BOHERERRETEEERE
AR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #EZF —E——#F=H=+1—HIF/F

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

31 BT A

(@) Categories of financial instruments (a) METAMER
2011 2010
bt T T
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FAT
Financial assets HBEE
Fair value through profit or loss BNLEE A TE
— derivative financial instruments —ITEMBIA 809 434
Loans and receivables (including cash ~ ER N EWZHIE (BRERE S
and cash equivalents) MRS EEY) 4,779,249 3,854,562
Financial liabilities BkaE
Fair value through profit or loss BNHEEZ A TFE
— derivative financial instruments —TEMBIA 337 25,518
Derivatives under hedge accounting ED R0 ol NI oy = i =X 55,649 117,228
Amortised cost 85 P AR 10,135,487 8,803,122

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and (b)

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade and

B REREEE M RBR

AEENTEZHHTABTEE

other receivables, amounts due from related companies, WESREMER BIWERE
derivative financial instruments, restricted bank deposits, HENRRIE - MTEMBIA

BERBIRITHER - RITERR

bank balances and cash, trade and other payables, and
Re BNEZIRAMERR
RITEE - MBITANFER
BN HEE - BREHBET
BEEMyEREETSRR
(BEREMNXRR)  F8
Bk MOmEE & R o WAl A&
MZERBOBEFHTIAT o
EREEEREEZERR
LARE R 2 IR B AU 3R A & 1Y
i o

bank borrowings. Details of the financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments include market risk
(currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks
are set out below. Management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are

implemented on a timely and effective manner.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk

(i)

Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency transactions, which
expose the Group to market risk arising from
changes in foreign exchange rates. In order to
mitigate the foreign currency risk, foreign currency
forward contracts are entered into by the Group for
certain material foreign currency transactions.
Management will monitor other foreign currency
exposure closely and consider the use of hedging

instruments when the need arises.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s significant
monetary assets, monetary liabilities which excluded
the intercompany balances and derivative financial
instruments that are denominated other than the
functional currency of the relevant group entities at

the reporting dates are as follows:

Monetary assets:

31. I TR (&)
BREREER N REE

(b)

HK$ BT
us$ ETT
GBP HeE
EUR BT
RMB AR

(&)

mi5
(i)

G
B RR
REBEFHEINIERS -

THREBAARINEE
KEF5| RHTIHER -
BT RENERR K
SERLETERIIER
SR ERER -
ERERTIEREM
SNEERERR I E B R
ERERYUPTA -

AEBRBE A LIMN
FREEERBHEER
AAEZIESMEE
TRAE(RIBRAER
RERRERON) ROTEM BT

AmERENT :
SHAE -

2011 2010
—g——5 QEEREE
HK$'000 HK$'000
85 T
428,889 508,894
261,531 181,391
197 15,242
284 1,949
5 1,617
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 31. MBI HE#E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BBEMESEBENRBER
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market risk (Continued) mEEE (&)
(i)  Currency risk (Continued) iy E¥RRKE)
Monetary liabilities: TREE:

2011 2010
Al T TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FH T
HK$ BT 1,828,062 1,916,924
us$ X 1,550,601 1,051,835
EUR B 8,757 6,858
Derivative financial instruments: TEMBETA:
2011 2010
il = ZF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHT
Assets BE
GBP REE 434
Liabilities aE
EUR BT 3,252
GBP BgE 291
Sensitivity analysis BREE DT
The Group is mainly exposed to the fluctuation of KEBXTEZHET %
HK$, US$, RMB, GBP and EUR. As HKS$, the T ARKE - RERRE
functional currency of the relevant group entities, is TTHEEN & - ARA
pegged with US$, the Group’s currency risk in T(RRAB 2N E)
relation to certain US$ monetary assets/liabilities is HETTHES B ALK
expected to be minimal and have excluded from REFETEREE

the sensitivity analysis. S BBENEERBRERN
]
il
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD) 31. BT R #)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)
(i) Currency risk (Continued)

(b)

MERREREE N RER
(&)

iz R (&)
() B¥ERGE)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued) BRERE DM (&)
The following tables detail the Group’s sensitivity to TR AN K BT E

a 5% (2010: 5%) increase and decrease in the
functional currency of the relevant group entities
against the relevant foreign currencies to the extent
that the exposures have not been hedged. 5%
(2010: 5%) is the sensitivity rate used when
reporting foreign currency risk internally to key
management personnel and represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably
possible change in foreign exchange rates. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and
derivative financial instruments and adjusts their
translation or fair value in the case of the derivative
financial instruments at the year ended for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. On this basis,
there will be an increase/decrease in post-tax profit
where the functional currency of the relevant group
entities weaken against the foreign currencies by
5%, and vice versa.

HhrERBRNBRLT A
HEBEERBZNEEE
REEBIMNE EART
[%5% (ZZF —ZF4F:5%)
HEEE - 5% (—ZE—F
F:5%) BEHANBEEE
B A B IE 5 5N B R B
RANBERELER A
EEERIIEEERNE
BRI g B IEL BT o
BRE DM R B HE L AN
BAENARENEBE
BRTEMBITE I
REERABRLERS
PTHEMBIAEZAFEE
A B B S T R /) 5% %
o ELUEET B
EHEEEB AR
e 5 ON S B (B 5% 0 Fi &
BRAKEM WL R
ZINER o

Increase (decrease)
in post-tax profit

HEBRNEMORD)
2011 2010
=t T T F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FBx FAT
HK$ BT 59,055 100,478
us$ E7T 386 7,250
RMB AR = (10,403)
GBP 0 (€)) (648)
EUR BT 360 209
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 31. MBI HE#E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BBEMESEBENRBER
policies (Continued) (4&)
Market risk (Continued) mEEE (&)
(i) Currency risk (Continued) i EERR(ZE)
Derivative financial instruments: PTEBEITA

Decrease in post-tax profit

HE BRI D
2011 2010
i T TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
EUR 57T — 1,561
GBP HEE 9,610 4,003
In addition, intercompany balances denominated in It oh - BN B R A
foreign currency are as follows: ERUASNEESTEDT -
2011 2010
T2 ——F Emagecks
HK$'000 HK$'000
THET TFET
Assets BE
us$ ETT 2,371,605 2,144,387
HK$ B IT 269,718 279,389
RMB AR 49,906 243,148
Liabilities =R
us$ ETT 2,371,605 2,144,387
HK$ BT 595,224 1,324,043
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

136

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk

The Group’s bank balances carry floating-rate of
interests and have exposure to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rates. The management of the
Company consider the Group's exposure is not
significant as the interest-bearing bank balances is
within short maturity period.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk
in relation to variable-rate bank borrowings. It is
the Group’s policy to keep its borrowings at fixed
interest rate so as to minimise the cash flow interest
rate risk. In order to achieve this result, the Group
entered into certain interest rate swaps to partially
hedge against its exposures to variable interest-rate
of bank borrowings. The critical terms of these
interest rate swaps are similar to those of hedged
borrowings. These interest rate swaps are
designated as effective hedging instruments and
hedge accounting is used.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for both
non-derivative and derivative instruments at the
end of the reporting period. For variable-rate bank
borrowings, to the extent that they are not hedged
by effective instruments, the analysis is prepared
assuming the amount of liability outstanding at the
end of the reporting period was outstanding for
the whole year. A 50 basis points increase or
decrease in interest rate is used when reporting
interest rate risk internally to key management
personnel and represents management’s assessment
of the reasonably possible change in interest rates.

31. I TR (&)
HEEAREEENRBE

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(i)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

For bank borrowings, if interest rate had been 50
basis points higher/lower and all other variables
were held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for
the year ended 31 March 2011 would decrease/
increase by HK$33,243,000 (2010: decrease/
increase by HK$23,599,000).

For derivative financial instruments, the sensitivity
analysis below has been determined assuming that
the interest rate of 2-Year Interest Rate Swap had
been increased by 5% of the fair value of derivative
financial instruments and all other variables were
held constant, the impact on the Group’s profit and

equity, and vice versa.

31. I TR (&)

(b) MBEBEEANRBE
(&)

miERR (&)

(i F=ERR (&)
BRERE DI (&)
HETEEMmMS - M F
L5 R EF T B50 &
2 MATA H A
BAEg AEEHZEC
E-—®#=A=+—H
IFFERRERF R
>/ # 1133,243,000 8 7T
ZE-TF @ L
$N23,599,0007% 7T ) °

ROTEMBITEMS -
A THREEDHNTIRRK
BEZTEMBIAR
FEZ2FHMNREEHZ
MEEFBDZE M
PrEEME BB TE
HEAREE RN R ES
WEE  RZIRK -

Increase Increase

in profit in equity

2 F 3 in FEZRIE AN

HK$'000 HK$'000

FAET FAT

At 31 March 2011 R-E——F=A=+—H 30 470
At 31 March 2010 RZE—ZEF=A=+—H 92 1,239
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD)

138

(b) Financial risk management objectives and

policies (Continued)

Credit risk

As at 31 March 2011, the Group’s maximum exposure to
credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the Group
due to failure to discharge an obligation by the
counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the

consolidated statement of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, management of the
Group has delegated a team responsible for determination
of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring
procedures to ensure that follow-up action is taken to
recover overdue debts. In addition, the Group reviews the
recoverable amount of each individual debt at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this regard,
the directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is

significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned

by international credit-rating agencies.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers,
spread across diverse industries and geographical areas.
Accordingly, the Group’s concentration of credit risk is

considered minimal.

31. I TR (&)

(b)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

31. I TR (&)
BREREER N REE

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD)

(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b)

policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash

flows.

The following tables detail the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities based on
the agreed repayment terms. For non-derivative financial
liabilities, the tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required to
pay. The table includes both interest and principal cash
flows. To the extent that interest flows are floating rate,
the undiscounted amount is derived from interest rate

curve at the end of the reporting period.

In addition, the following table details the Group’s
liquidity analysis for its derivative financial instruments.
The tables have been drawn up based on the
undiscounted contractual net cash flows on derivative
instruments that settle on a net basis. When the amount
payable is not fixed, the amount disclosed has been
determined by reference to the projected interest rates as
illustrated by the yield curves existing at the end of the
reporting period. The liquidity analysis for the Group’s
derivative financial instruments are prepared based on
the contractual maturities as the management consider
that the contractual maturities are essential for an
understanding of the timing of the cash flows of

derivatives.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 HZE_-—F——F=ZHA=1+—HI FZF

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 31. MBI HE#E)
(b) Financial risk management objectives and (b) BBEMESEBENRBER
policies (Continued) (4&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) mEESRR (&)
Liquidity and interest risk tables MENE & KA EE &K

Weighted Total Carrying
average undiscounted amount
effective Less than 13 3 months cash  at31March
NEEIE 1 month months to 1 year 1-5 years flows 2011
R-B-—-%

G0l =f8Aa K8 ZA=1-B
mEYEE  HSR-EA  -Z=fA B-F -E1% BELE REREAG IR
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

Batt TET TiET TET TiEn TET TiET TEL

2011 E--F
Non-derivative financial ~ FfT4HKEEE
liabilities
Trade and other payables ERE SR
- current -k 1,532,375 548,055 10,466 2,090,896 2,090,896
Bank borrowings RITEE
- variable rate %8 i 454,716 841,798 1,341,007 5,666,773 8,305,846 7,988,606
1,987,091 1,389,853 1,351,473 5,666,773 10,396,742 10,079,502
Derivatives - net fIETA-FE
settlement Rl
Interest rate swaps FlxH d 29,375 18,731 58,030 55,649
Foreign currency forward MEEHEH
contracts 337 337
2010 “E-%%
Non-derivative financial ¥4 HHEEE
liabilities
Trade and other payables ENESREL
- current B — 1,283,805 424,028 22,590 — — 1,730,423 1,730,423
Bank borrowings BOER
- variable rate %8 3.00 307,189 645,410 1,572,077 4,875,275 — 7,399,951 7,072,699
1,590,994 1,069,438 1,594,667 4,875,275 — 9,130,374 8,803,122
Derivatives - net fIETIR-FE
settlement Rl
Interest rate swaps FlxH 491 — 18,167 52,159 70,995 — 141,321 139,203
Foreign currency forward MEEHAH
contracts — 2,012 291 1,240 — — 3,543 3,543
2,012 18,458 53,399 70,995 — 144,864 142,746
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conivueD)

(c) Fair value

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

o the fair values of derivative financial instruments
are calculated using discounted cash flow analysis
based on the applicable yield curves of interest
rates and foreign exchange rates as determined by
counterparty financial institutions.

o the fair values of financial assets and financial
liabilities (excluding derivative financial instruments)
are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on discounted cash
flow analysis.

The directors consider the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate to
their fair values.

Fair value measurements recognised in the
statement of financial position

The following table provides an analysis of financial
instruments that are measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, grouped into Level 2 based on
the degree to which the fair value is observable.

- Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived
from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active market
for identical assets or liabilities.

- Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived
from inputs other than quoted prices included
within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or
liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e.
derived from prices).

31. I TR (&)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RE B mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

31. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (conTinueD) 31. MBI HE#E)
(c) Fair value (Continued) (o 2FE(E)

Fair value measurements recognised in the EHBRREER 2 AT ER

statement of financial position (Continued) 2 (£&)

—  Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived - FB=RRFTEIFEESE
from valuation techniques that include inputs for 838 A0 3E AR AT B R
the asset or liability that are not based on THENCEEXEBE
observable market data (unobservable inputs). BH(TAER2EH)

ZIEETRETZAE -

31 March 31 March
2011 2010
Level 2 Level 2
—E——F —E-TF
EFEE Nl 5=+ f
BEZR E R
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FAT
Financial assets at fair value REBEREARZ
through profit or loss M EELNFE
Derivative financial instruments PTEMBIA 434
Financial liabilities at fair value A#E#H AE>
through profit or loss MEEEATHE
Derivative under hedge accounting ¥ & st THFTAE T A 117,228
Other derivatives not under hedge H b A EE P&+ T H
accounting PTET A 25,518
There were no transfer between the 3 levels during FR - ZEARNEILEEE -
the year.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

B B R R MR ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 EZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—HIFF/F

32. OPERATING LEASES 32. BERY
The Group as lessee SEMEREEAA
At the end of the reporting period, the Group had R E AR - AN KBRS 0] S
commitments for future minimum lease payments under non- BT RAEFREENNBEEN
cancellable operating leases in respect of land and buildings, MExEESMT

which fall due as follows:

2011 2010

L T TF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FTET FHET

Within one year —F R 8,787 7,664
In the second to fifth year inclusive F_FEFERFN 30,860 26,827
After five years FRFE 246,204 245,245

285,851 279,736

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the KEHeEASER T REAET
Group for lands and certain of its office properties. For lands, MAEYMEERNNES - a9
leases are negotiated for an average term of twenty years and MEH -+ HeblGFHT -
rentals are negotiated every year. For office properties, leases MAZEMENEEFH—F - 8RN
are negotiated for an average term of one year with fixed HEeETE -
rentals.

33. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS 33. EREE

2011 2010
—z——+ [EEEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000
85 T

Capital expenditures contracted for but 5t 2 5] KB R R Er & BT K
not provided in the consolidated BREFHKNENEARFAY
financial statements in respect of
acquisition of:

— property, plant and equipment — ¥ R NEE 2,326,221 1,016,229
- land use rights — T fE AR 169,771 19,347

2,495,992 1,035,576
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A mRME ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—H I F/F

34. NON-CASH TRANSACTION 34 kBRERS
The Group’s acquisition of property, plant and equipment of AEBWREDE BEREZHE
HK$20,690,000 (2010: HK$89,536,000) was settled through 20,690,000 & L ( = T — & 4 :
transfer of deposits paid in the prior or current year. 89,536,000/ 7T ) X FE S A FHE

MENTZEA -

35. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 35. BEREBALEE
DISCLOSURES
During the year, the Group had significant transactions with FA SEEEARABATEERR
related parties, certain of which are also deemed to be 5 & TEHHRE £ TR WA E
connected parties pursuant to the Listing Rules. BEEANTL -
Significant transactions with these parties during the year are FR - BEZEIFEATETHNERRZS
as follows: mr
(@) Connected and related party transactions (a) BERHEBALIRS
2011 2010
Nature of —E——fF —E-FF
Name of parties transactions HK$'000 HK$'000
BEALER REME THERT FET
Lee & Man Industrial Finished goods sold by &£ & H £ &K
Manufacturing (note i) the Group 126,781 153,193
BNEE (D Income from steam and &£ ERHE TR
electricity provided by & H Z WA
the Group 3,193
Raw materials purchased £ & 88 B 5 #1 £
by the Group 1,066
Lee & Man Paper Products Licence fee paid by the & B B 47 Al i
Limited (note i) Group B
BX@mARAR () 983
Jiangsu Chemical (note ii) Income from steam and & B ZE R R
STERE T (P &) electricity provided by &1 2 A
the Group 63,011
Raw materials purchased £ [E 8 B R # £
by the Group 9,828
notes: B3 -
(i) The company is indirectly wholly owned by a daughter of Mr Lee (i) ZDB BN B EE REEIEH]
Wan Keung Patrick, a director and the ultimate controlling party FEEREECAREETER
of the Company. e
(i) The company is beneficially owned by Mr Lee Wan Keung Patrick, (i)  FZATBARRREEREELEH
a director and the ultimate controlling party of the Company. FREREEBRRER ©
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RE B R AR M A ()

For the year ended 31 March 2011 #HZF —ZE——#F=H=+1—H I F/F

35. CONNECTED AND RELATED PARTY 35. BERMEEALTEE®)
DISCLOSURES (conminueD)
(b) Related party transaction (b) HEALTXRZS
2011 2010
Nature of —E——f& —E—T&
Name of party transaction HK$'000 HK$'000
HES B8 REME TER FET
FSGL Interest income accrued £ B FEETF 8
by the Group WA 6,691 11,051
(c) Connected and related party balances (0 BAERMEBATLEER
Details of the Group’s outstanding balances with FAERBEMATRRAREZ
connected and related parties are set out in the BRI ERIIN RS M BHR
consolidated statement of financial position and notes 20 Sk A EE20 %21
and 21.
(d) Compensation of key management d) FEEEEXEHH
personnel
The remunerations of the directors and other members of EXRAMEFREREXRRR
key management during the year were as follows: FAZMEWT
2011 2010
- < TF
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET
Short-term benefits HIE A 11,522 10,072
Post-employment benefits BARE R 60 57
Share-based payments A& S < 5B 32,046 56,710

43,628 66,839
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #ZF —ZE——#F=H=+—HIFF/F

36. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE =~ 36. &2 BB # ik &

COMPANY
The summarised statement of financial position of the KRR —_E——F=H=+—H
Company as at 31 March 2011 and 31 March 2010 are as ;rZE-ZTF=ZR=+—RA2¥%
follows: RS T
2011 2010
—E——F —E—2F
HK$’000 HK$'000
F#& T FHET
Investments in subsidiaries HEARKRE 637,977 637,977
Other receivables FE W H i BE 7k 14,137 15,677
Amounts due from an associate JiE Ui B 5 R B SR IE = 136
Amounts due from subsidiaries FEUL T B~ 7 7k 18 6,771,718 7,133,440
Bank balances RITH 230 538
Total assets BEHE 7.424,062 7,787,768
Derivative financial instruments T T A 55,649 117,227
Amount due to a subsidiary FEf —RE B AR F0E 502,576 129,050
Other payables JE -1 HL A BR 3R 7,069 9,437
Unsecured bank borrowings EIXTIRITEE 1,340,000 2,470,000
Total liabilities BEBE 1,905,294 2,725,714
5,518,768 5,062,054
Share capital B& X 117,241 113,770
Reserves ] 5,401,527 4,948,284
Total equity 4 5 5,518,768 5,062,054

146 Lee & Man Paper Manufacturing Limited 2010/11 Annual Report




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REPBHmRMWE (F)
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37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 37. ARBEXEME L AFE
THE COMPANY

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March AR EZMBRARIR-ET——4F
2011 and 31 March 2010 are as follows: ZA=+—HERZE—ZEF=A=
T—HOFENOT

Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of issued
establishment/registration  and fully paid share
and operations capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary MR R B R BRITRMRRE/ Proportion ownership interest held by the Company Principal activities
HEAREH EELE EMRAHEE ARARSEERETRELA TEEH
Directly Indirectly
HE k3
2010
i S 223
Able Advance International British Virgin Islands (note i) Ordinary shares — US$4 — Investment holding
Limited EERRES (M) EER-4%ET REER

Lee & Man Industries Company  British Virgin Islands (note i) Ordinary share — US$1 100% Investment holding

Limited EBERHS (WD) TEE-1ET REER
Vantage Dragon Limited Hong Kong Ordinary share — HK$2 100%  Investment holding
FIEEBERAR EE Lk — 28T REER
Lee Kwok (Macao Commercial Macau MOP100,000 100% Procurement of raw

Offshore) Trading Limited B B FI%100,0007T materials
ME CEMBFEERS) RERE

BHERAA
Wang Kei (Macao Commercial ~ Macau MOP100,000 100% Export trading of

Offshore) Trading Limited Pl 8 F9%100,00070 paper
LECRPIBEFEERS) FRELDES

B5ERRA
Dongguan Lee & Man Paper PRC (note i) Registered capital 100% Manufacturing and

Factory Co Ltd B (P 3 — US$156,480,000 trading of paper
REHCESRABR AR ERlEEN RELERES

— 156,480,000 7T
Guangdong Lee & Man Paper PRC (note i) Registered capital 100% Manufacturing and

Manufacturing Limited B (5 — US$530,000,000 trading of paper

ERIESCERBRAT AR FREEERES
— 530,000,000 7©
Jiangsu Lee & Man Paper PRC (note i) Registered capital 100% Manufacturing and

Manufacturing Company o (5 — US$363,000,000 trading of paper

Limited AfMEA REEERES
TEECERERAR — 363,000,000% 7T
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For the year ended 31 March 2011 #ZF —ZE——#F=H=+—HIFF/F

37. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF 37. XA B FEM B LA BFEE (&)
THE COMPANY (conTinUED)

Place of incorporation/ Nominal value of issued
establishment/registration  and fully paid share
and operations capital/registered capital
Name of subsidiary SR/ B ERK DRIRMRRE Proportion ownership interest held by the Company Principal activities
KEARER EEBY HEMRAEE ARRREREHREREL TEEB
Directly Indirectly
HE &
2010
kS a3
Chongging Lee & Man Paper PRC (note ii) Registered capital 100% Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Company B (FitaEii) — US$420,260,000 trading of paper
Limited BRI RBEERES
EEEERERAR — 420,260,000% 7T
Jiangxi Lee & Man Paper PRC (note ii) Registered capital N/A~ Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Company A (P 3 — US$100,000,000 trading of paper
Limited BRI RE4ERES
TREERERAA — 100,000,000 7T
Vietnam Lee & Man Paper Vietnam US$17,248,573 100% Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited i 172485735 70 trading of paper
Vietnam Lee & Man Pulp Vietnam US$13,748,171 100% Manufacturing and
Manufacturing Limited i 137481715 T trading of pulp
AEEERES
notes: BEE -
(i) These companies operate in Hong Kong. (i) ZENBEEBEE -
(ii) These companies are foreign investment enterprises established in the (i) ZERAREPEKILZIFERE R
PRC. U
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in FRINNBESERATIETELRSE
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results or XENEEHRAGNARANE
assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other RAEl- BEERE WEHEMKB A
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in AINFBEFEANEFERTE &
particulars of excessive length. REINEHZEER -
None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at RELEBRFRNTAER S B
the end of the year, or at any time during the year. NEEEAREENESLES -
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